January, 1987 i
3rd

n the lst of the month we had 7 inches of snow giving us an
accumulation of 2 inches. The 2nd was a warm dav. 1t melted
the snow down to & inches. This morning, from a low of 3P
during the night, the temperature got up to 40 before day—
light. That lowered the snow to S inches, and by seven this
evening it was down to 4 inches.

Thursday afterncon I drove cut to the point to break a
track in the snow. I was thinking that if we had more snow
it would be good if we had the wheesl tracks started. Even
then 1t was snowing, and I had to use the windshield wipers.,
The rear—-view mirvrors got wet making it hard to see the
tracks I had made. I started backing down toc the dugout and
had to cpen the deoor and lean ocut te look behind, but =still
couldn’t see the wheel tracks and had a hard time keeping on
the reoad. I stopped several times to drive forward to get a
new start.

Yesterday the paths were all filled with ice. I showv—
gled up buckets of sawdust and sprinkled sawdust on  the
path=s. Also sprinkled the dust on the left-side-whesl track
all the way te the point. The dark sawdust on the snow would
enable me to ses how te back the pickup down here when I
came back with the mail.

In the aftterncon I headed down for the mail wondering
it  the wheels would spin in the wet snew. I wouldn't mind
walking part of the way back, but was worried about starting
the motor in the meorning if I had to leave the pickup on the

hill. The motor has been hard to start on these cold m@morn—
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ings. It seems the choke isn't working right, or for some
reasen the gas isn’t getting to the carburetor fo begin
with. That isn't the only trouble. The battery doesn't hold
up  under heavy cranking. I'm afraid it is getting toco cold.
I've bhad to put the charger on it several times lately teo
get the motor started in the mornings.

The depth of the snow had lowered seo much the geing was
guite good. Coming back up I had no trouble with the wheels
slipping in the wet snow. The sawdust in the wheesel frack
made it easy to see the reoad while backing down here.

I've been cutting weood every day keeping a good supply
in  the house. That Tirst pallet is nearly all used up. 1
believe that by the time it is gone i1t will have supplied us
with wood for 28 days. At that rate the other twoe palleis
should last wus inteoc March. Then the weather should be pretty
good and we can get ancther pallet.

Carl Thomas is back,., and has been up several times. He
borrowed a plece of TVY-lead-in wire. He put up ancther
antenna above the old one and then hooked the two together.
It didn't help the reception.
7th

The high today was 30. The low last night was 15, and
at & p.m. 1%t was 21. The sky was clear most of the day, but
it clouded up this afterncon. There was no wind.

Monday I started a letter to Phil, but didn't get it

finished by mail time. Today I worked on it again and had it
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finished by noon. The composition "The Night Before Christ-
mas” that Linda sent me and I had copied onte a disk for
mere printouts, needed some typing errors corrected. When I
had corrected the errors, I printed a copy to put intoc Phils
letter.

Arcund ten o'clock Dunsmore called and teld us that the
power would be off from one o'cleck until two. The pickup
motor was starting hard in the mornings. I went out to see
if I could de something with the choke, and get the motor
started before the power went off. I would prebably need to
use the battery charger.

I adjusted the front vacuum brake so that it wouldn't
cpen the choke valve as far as it has been deing. I thought
1t might be opening toe far before the motor got started. It
didn't help I had te put the charger ontoc the battery. After
the motor started it didn't idle good. I readiusted the
vacuum brake, and 1t idled Okav.

The power came on before I went down for the mail. The
wheel tracks were scolid ice, but I had no Erouble. I kept
watch for Carl because he usually brought up the mail. Hhile
I was going down the last steep grade I saw the two graders
stoepped by the mailboxes. 8 pickup was parked at’the exit to
our vead. I could see three men standing by the graders
talking. 1 guessed that two of them were Bill and Fete. The

cther must have been from the pickup.
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I stopped and got ocut with the letter toc Phil. fAs I
walked around the pickup that was parked there, I recocgnized
that it was Carl Thomas' Luv-Chevrolet pickup. s I came
near, Carl said, "Here's the TV man now. He gets good pic—
tures up at his place. I guess it's bhecause of the high
elevation.”

I knew than that they must have been talking about TV
reception. I =aid, "Well, the trouble at Carl's place is
that he gets reflections from the mountains at different
angles. The echeces interfere with the signals coming from
the translator. He can turn the anterna for good reception
from one station, but the others have interference."”

Bill was worried about one of the graders. When he was
traveling along the rcad the transmission made a tervible
noise in the intermediate speed. In the bhigh speeds and  low
speeds it was all right. If the grader guit ocn them they
would be greatly handicapped in the road work. The only time
they used the intermediate range was when they were travel-
ing without using the blade. Today they didn’'t have their
truck with them so would be traveling home with the grader,
and then they would shift through the sixth gear.
gth

The high vesterday was 30. The low last night was 13,
and at eight this morning it was 1&6. There was heavy fog and

fic wind.

143
|
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Today my Aercstar is supposed to arrive in Burns. They
are going to call me when it get there, but I'm not holding
my breath walting for the call. I think it will be next
week.

Last Monday, for the first day in a week, Mike got out
doors. He cut some wood. I noticed he had more treuble with
the saw getting stuck than I did. I had learned tc control
the saw so that it would not grab the stick. He is carrying
the wood from the big pile into the tin building to be cut.
This is new for him. He used to always put i1t  intoc  the
wheelbarvow.

The cold air keeps him inside even when the wind isn't
blowing. He wears extra soccks with the insulated bocots, but
still his feet are cold. At the rate he is FTailing since
last year at this time, I wonder how much longer we will be
here. Maybe we would be better off renting a small place in
Burns.

Once, when Mike came intc the dugout, I asked, “fAre
yvour fTeet celd?®

He said, "No, but they’'re getting ceold. My hands are
like ice, and my nose is about to drop eoff.®
ZFth

The low last night was 13. The high was 21, and at &
p.m. 1t was 18. The air was calm, and there was fog most of

the davy.
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At mail time I plammed to drive down for the mail,
because I thought Carl would be helping Bill with the trans-—
later. I drove ocut to the point and was about to drive down
the hill, but saw Carl getting cut of his pickup a short
distance down the reoad. His wheels had spun out. He walked
up to where I was with the mail sack. I loocked the mail over
to see if he had some. There was none for him.

I said, "If you could get your wheels cut of the icy
wheel tracks and cver intco the snow. You could probably make
it on up. He went down and tried a few times to move ocut  of
the wheel tracks, but the wheels would just spin. I helieve
he was reluctant to drive near the upper bank because there
was a ditch there. He got cut and walked along the edge of
the bank to test the ground. The ditch was too shallow to be
a preblem. He got back inte the truck and backed down the
Hill and was able toc put the wheels where there was snow.
Then came right up without any trouble. Up at the top he
could tuwrn arcund without getting stuck in the snow.

5%ill no letter from the VA in answer to my application
for a pension. I had thought there would be a check for me
at the first of the month. I don't know how long it was
before the first check came after my application in December
of '74. IT 1 don’t get a check by February, I'11 calil them.
10th

The high today was 27. The low last night was 13, and
at 6 p.m. it was 18. There was fog this morning, and no

wind, The sun came cut arcund nocon.

¢
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At one o'clock I walked half way down the road. The
wheel tracks were oo slippery with sclid ice to walk in
them. I kept to the center of the road where the snow made
easier walking. The old frozen foot prints made it a little
rough. Coming back I could walk in the wheel tracks, bhecause
up hill your feet have less tendency to slip.

I would have walked farther but I wantsed %o aget back
before the fire went cut. Mike was reading a book and would-
n't notice that the stove needed wood.

Gecrge called this evening. The temperature got up o

Y

2 down there today. It was warmer than during the last
week. He says that a neighbor has orange and lemon trees
that have loads of fruit. The limbs are bending nearly to
the ground. The neighbor says to George, “Pick all YO
want."” With the type of juice maker that George has it
doesn’'t  take him long to f11l a gallen jug full of arange
juice.

As  to when Dot and Grey were cut to visit us here,
Gecrge and Leis talked 1t over and remembered that they flew
te Lalifornia several vear ago. Clarence drove them up  here
and they were here enly a few howrs. That is why I couldn't
remember their wvisit.

Harry had guite a time last week. He was eating dimmer
and cheked on a piece of meat. They had a struggle getting
the meat disledged. Then they called an ambulance to  take

him to a hespital. There it was found that he had prneumcnia,
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and they kept him in bed for several days. If it hadn’'t been
for the cheoking the pneumonia might not have been noticed
until it was toeo late to save him.

Gecrge's greatest recreation is shopping in grocery
stores. He goes frem one to another loeoking for something
special. He goes nearly every dav.

Tanight on the OEN I heard Ellis check in. I called for
a contact because I could hear him clearly. Most of the time
since he went scuth I could make ocut his voice but not  what
he said. He is geoing to start traveling east threugh the
scuth. I guess he won't be going very far sast, because he
said he thought he would be back up here in three or four
weeks. He sald that he ran inte June down there. I didn't
kriow that she was in the van with him wuntil I heard her SAY 4
"Hello.” Then Ellis said that if June's daughter should call
me to get word to her mother I should get in contact with
him and he would get in touch with June.
11th

The high today was 30. The low last night was 12, and
the temperature at & p.m. was Z1. The sun shown all day and
there was no wind. It was a nice day. 1 walked down the road
to the place where the tractor road cuts off toward the
gate. I had to be careful abeout slipping the same as vester—
day. I made the round trip in one hour and twenty minutes.

I kept the stove fired up and with the little esleciric
heater rumming, the temperature got up to 69 degrees this

sevening.
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i did spelling checks on twe files , and printed them
the. Then deleted them from the directory to make rooem for
movre Tiles. Before going for my walk I carried weood inte the
tin building from the big pile. Tomorrow I will saw some of
ity and bring i1t intoe the dugout. Mike has remarked that the
pile of weod in here is getting lew, but thought it would
last another dav. I think it will last twe at least.
i2th

High 45, low 1&6. At 6 p.m. it was 39. There were =cab-
tered clouds most of the day, and strong winds this evening.

This morning, just after nine, the phone rang. I was
sure it was the Ford garage and 1t was. Ted said that the
Aerostar had arrived, and they were cleaning it. They would
have it ready for me this afternocon. I tcld him I would be
in later in the weesk.

I drove down to get the mail and met Carl on the hill
above the gate coming up with it. He was riding his motorcy—
cle. I locked the mail over. There was none for him. I asked
him, "Are vou ready to go to town tomorvrow?®

He said, "HWell, I guess I could be ready.” Then I  told
him I would be getting a new vehicle, so would like to  have
him take me in his pickup. We agreed toc meet at his place. I
would drive deown in the morning. If the road up the hill
locked teo be in too bad a shape for the Aercstar to make 1%,

I would leave it at his place.
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Weather for the last four days.

Jan. 13, 39— 16 —-26.

Jan. 14, 33— 20~ 23, .13 inches of precip. 1.2 inches
of new snow with 5" on the ground.

Jan. 15, 25— 7- 22, 5" on ground.

Jan. 16, 28— 9- 24, 5" on ground.

17%h

High 35, Low 15, and at 8 a.m. 21, clear and calm.

During the low temperatures I kept the stove poked full
of wood, and by ene oc'cleck the temperature in here was up
to &68. The wood pile was going down very fast. and it  makes
me wonder if it will last past the middle of February.

Well, on the 13t, early in the morning, I was ready o
go to town. Mike didn't want to go because it was to  cold
for him. I drove down to Carl’'s, transferred the one cocler,
I brought down, intc his pickup, and rode to Burns with him.
When I got in I was glad I was wearing my jacket. His heater
didn’t put ocut much heat, even on the high setting. Carl was
dressed warm encugh sc that he turned the heater down to the
low setting before we got to Mann Lake. He turned it up to
high while we were going over the Ceold-Spring Summit, then
back down again on the other side.

At the time we started, snow showers were threatening.
Iin places there was snow on the recad. West of the summit
there was lots of clear sky. In Burns it was cold with a
little wind, but there was bright sunshins.

I had tcold Carl that I was plamming ta buy a new vehi-
cle, and that I had @y eye on the Ford fercstar over other

mini vans I had lcecked at. We stopped at the Ford garage the

first thing. The display room looked bare because the Ranger
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that had been sitting there was gone. They had a fire going
in  the big fireplace which was the only scurce of heat fTor
the whole office section.

Ted was standing in front of the fire talking with some
pecple. He saw me and came over to greet me. Shaking my hand
he said, "We have vour fAercstar back in the garage all ready
te go. I'11 bring it up front so you can lock at 1t." Carid
and I followed him teward the back of the garage. It was
parked behind a pickup that Ted had te move out of the way.
HWhile he was deing that we locked the van over from the
cutside.

Carl said, "I like the color. It has nice lines. It's a
gead  looking wvehicle." The coler was all right, but it
wasn't what I had expected it toc be. I thought I had picked
ocut a silver grey. This had a yvellowish sheen to it.

Later Ted said, "When you get cut in the sagebrush
country, vou won't be able to see 1it, because the fields are
the same color." He drove it up to the frent. I cpened the
side-sliding deoor and got in. I tried cut the back seat
which seemed to be higher than the front seats. Then got
down and sat in the drivers seat. A& bell was ringing. Ted
showed me how te take ocut the ignition key. With the door
open the bell would ring as long as the key was in. That was
to remind you not to leave the key in when yvou left the van.

The garage was sc cold I was shivering and shaking all

over. Ted wanted me to sign some papers. We went intc the
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lobby. I was able to contreol my shaking long encugh to sign
my name. Then went over and stood in front of the fire. One
of the garage men came in with a couple of logs and  threw
them on the fire. I said, "That's a waste of wood, "

He said, "It sure is. It goes up in smoke.®

I asked, "You don't have any heat for the garage?”

He answered, "No. With it cold in there the men kesp
busy just to stay warm.®

Carl and I discussed the need for regular sized spares.
I  thought I sheuld have two, but Carl suggested one, which
with the toy spare would be encugh. Ted had one of the
clerks order a regular spare. Ted said, "I'll take the wvan
out and Till the tank. Then vou'll be ready to go.”

When he had filled the tank he called me ocut to show me
the lever at the side of the driver's seat that opens the
door  to the gas cap. While I was out there I menticned to
him that I might want to install a two—meter transmitter,
and wondered where toc put the anternna. He suggested that it
could go at the cuter end of bumper where the +tilt door
would miss it when it was opened. He said, "The license
plates and the spare wheel will be here in about two weeks. "

I teld him I would be back by then. I said to Earl,
"I'11 drive down to the Safeway store.®

He =aild, "Okay. I'11 fellow you.®

At Safeway's I got the two S0 1b. sacks of sugar, and

encugh other groceries to i1l the cart. The girl at the
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checkout counter said, "You finally came to get your sugar.”
I told her that I only come o town once a month. I put the
groceries  inte the van. Then went back to get fifteen jugs
of distilled water, and a few cther items. Carl came arcund
where I was getting some other groceries.

He said, "You must be getting a let of greceries. This
is your second time arcund. I teld bhim that this time I was
getting distilled water.

Out at the van again I had te move the sugar to  make
room for the water. There was plenty of space for every—
thing. Carl said, "The door sure makes a big opening. I
guess we're ready tc go home now.®

“There's one more thing. I have to get stamps at  the
post office.” I parked near the post office and went in  and
got  the stamps, then took off for home. HWe got cut of  town
in good time, but I forgot to cash my Social Security check.

When we were out on the highway, I experimented with
the cruise control. I set the speed for 37 miles an howr. It
held that speed without a waver. I had expected the speedom—
eter needle to move a little. The slightest tcuch on  the
brake peddle would cut the control out, and vou would =slow
down. Teouching the resume button would put it back in  and
you would go back to the set speed. Carl stayved far behind,
which gave me time te try cut different speeds. Before 1 got
te the tree I set it at 50 to give Carl a chance to catch up

before 1 stopped.
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The first thing he said was, "Did it get hot?", and
seemed surprised that it didn't. The gage showed the temper-—
ature quite ceococl. I was plenty warm though. I hadn't taken
my Jacket off, and the sun shining in the windshield made it
warm. Later, after I had removed my jacket, I figured out
how the heat control worked. When we got going again. I was
able to adjust the temperature up or down as needed.

The ride was much smocother than the truck. Those wavy
places in the pavement west of Crane were net felt. In those
places the big truck would heave sc much I would have o
slow down. It smoothed cut the bumps on  the gravel road
alsc. I can imagine what a beating the tires take. I set the
cruise contrel at 50. Howsver, next time on the gravel road
I will set it at 45, the speed I try to maintain with the
big truck.

At Carl's place we transferred the stuff from his
pickup te mine, and I parked the van beside his Mazda. I
sald to Carl, "I'11 see vou tomorrow.”

The road geing up the hill was a little soft in sSome
places, but not toe bad. I made it up the stesp grade near
the top fine, even though the wheel tracks were sclid ice.

I goet all the stuff unlcaded before I sat down to eat.
I was pretty hungry because I hadn't eaten since morning.
When I left this morning Mike was doing cut a washing. Now
he was hanging ocut clothes. He must have had several washes.

I think he had tried tc use the dryer, but couldn't make it
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work. I always have to reach behind the dryer and give the
belt a push at the same time heold down the start button.
Some things had been removed from the top.

I was in a rather tense frame of mind, and didn't feel
like working with the computer.
19th

The high today was 33. The low last night was 21. £t &
p.m. it was 20. The sky was clear all day, and there were
heavy winds at times.

I took a walk this afterncon. The wind was blowing from
the east. The temperature was 28, but seemed colder bhecause
of the wind. I wore my big overcocat on top of my jacket.
Hith the hood up on the big coat 1 wasn't too warm. I walked
ocut in the sagebrush where there wasn't any danger of slip-
ping on the ice.

Thursday I baked an applesauce cake. It came out drier
than I had expected. I decided that the next time I would
use molasses besides sugar, and I would make the hbatter
thinner.

Friday morning I baked twoe leoaves of raisin bread. 1%
turned cut to be the kind that one slice calls fer ancther.

I drove down for the mail in the aftervnocon, hoping I
would get to the mailbox before Carl came up with the sack.
I wanted tc go cover to his place and leook at the wvan. He
didn't show up at the mailbox, so I drove over to his place.

All his wvehicles were in the yard, but the place seemed
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deserted. I thought he may have gone somewhere on his motor—
cycle, so I sat in the pickup reading a letter from Phil.
After & while Carl came out. He said, "I thought I heard a
vehicle drive up.®

I s=said, "I didn’'t think vou were home.” I got out. HHe
talked about the weather. I wanted to look at the wvan. I
started over to it saying., "You menticned that the valve
stem in cne of the wheels wasn't cut where you could get  to
it. I'll tell them abcocut it at the garage.” The one he had
mentioned was on the left front wheel. We looked at all the
cthers. They were all right, then I loocked at the one on the
left front wheel. It was the same as the cthers.

Carl said, "I could swear it was down inside the hubcap
where you couldn't reach it."

I said, "The way the snow is on the road now I think I
might be able to drive it up the hill. I'11l leave it here,
and we can drive the pickup down here and leave it when we
take the van te town.”

He said, "Yes. You can leave the van here as long as
you want te. I thought Carl Hair weould drop by before now. I
was going to tell him that this is my new Volks Hagen.”
2lst

High 37, low 1B, and at &6 p.m. it was 28. It was clear
all day and very little wind.

When I went {o get the mail I drove to the top of the

hill above the gate, turned the pickup arcund and parked it
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in the road. I walked on down to the mailbox, thus gestting
my exercise walking on bare greund which was better than
walking on the icy voad at the upper end of the road.

As I walked down the last steep grade I could see
soemecone  at the hot spring. I thought it might be Carl, but
the pickup parked neaer the fence didn't gquite look like his,
so0 I wasn't sure. The mailman hadn't arrived vet. In the
mail sack that I brought down with me there was & catalog
that should have gone to the schoolhouse. I put  the =sack
inte the boex on this side of the road. Then walked up
through the sagebrush leooking for arrowheads.

I climbed up the side of the hill, and, seeing a good
place to sit down next to a June-Berry bush, I decided to
watch for the mailman freoem there. Whoever was at  the hot
spying was now out of sight.

In about ten minutes the mail truck showed up, stopped
at the box, and then drove on. As I was climbing down the
side hill, I heard the truck near the fence start up. I
moeved ocut toward the mailbox. Now I could get a good look at
the truck and saw that it was Carl's. He took the mail sack
out of the box, then backed up sc that he could turn to come
ente our recad. I hurried te get to the road in time te
intercept him.

He saw me, stopped and got ocut as I came up. He said,
"It lecoks like vou decided to walk down this time. I was

over cleaning the tanks while I was waiting for the mail.
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Then came over to this side of the rcad and sat watching for
the truck."” Apparently he hadn't seen me when I came down.

I said; "I walked down to get the exercise. I saw Youy
truck, but wasn't sure it was vours." He handed me the mail
sack. I found that it had ncthing but a few pieces of jJunk
mail. There was nothing for Carl.

I said, "I thought vou were going to town today for a
load of wood.®

He, "Well, Hair decided to wait until tomorvow, because
he wanted tc see what was in the mail today.”

I gave him directions on how to find the office where
he could apply for the wood. He said that he thought he
could find it all right. He =said, "I'm going ever to take a
bath while the tanks are clean. Would you like me to drive
you up the hill? I've plenty of time."

“Me. I want the exercise.® I said, but didn't tell him
the pickup was parked partway down the hill, and I wouldn't
have to walk the whole distance.

Back wup here Mike was swprised that there was mail,
and apparently didn't know I had gone. I said, "There's only
a few pieces of junk mail."

He said, "That’'s good.” He tcook the mail back %o his
office. It's the pelitical siuff that he esats g .
22nd

High 31, low 17, and at & p.m. it was 27. The sun shown

most  of the morning. In the afierncon the clouds hecame
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quite heavy, but noct heavy encugh teo indicate snow or rain.
I would like te see a warm rain to get rid of the ice.

Arcund one o'cleck I drove the truck down to the head
of the lower draw, twned it arcund and parked 1t in the
road, then walked down passed the gate. Thus again I could
hike without fear of slipping.

This brings up a good time to tell about why I am extra
careful when it comes te slippery ice. Last week I started
walking down the hill for my usual exercise. & trace of snow
had fallen en the icy-wheel tracks. Such snow on top of  ice
usually gives better traction for your shoes. I had just
gone over the brow of the hill, stepping out and feeling
pretty safe. Then my feet slipped on the ice. I went down so
fast I had ne time to even think of catching my balance. The
back of my head hit the sclid ice so hard I thought I would
pass out. I rolled up onte my left elbow, and rubbed the
bruised spot on the back of my head until the pain subsided
a little. It seemed as though I  lay there about five
minutes.

I was slow getting to my feet, because I felt lame all
ever. I carefully made my way toc the dugout and lay on  the
cot for a while. I found that my neck muscles were sore, and
there were other sore spots. One was a knee bone that I
didn’'t feel until the next day. I decided 1 didn't want

ancther fall like that.
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23rd
High 38,

low 23, and at

snowing lightly arcund 8:30.

trace.

Monday I baked another apple-sauce cake increasing

ingredients by half a measure sc that there would be

batter +to fill the large cake

of

raisins. This time the cake was not dry. and

20

& p.m. it was 36. It began

It scon guit so we got only a
the
encugh
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amount

the extra
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grade I saw
hot spring.
yet one—thirty.
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load the wood for you only on
ed

geod =sized pile.

I baked two locaves of raisin bread using

there before Carl came up with it. Going down
Carl's pickup parked by the
1 stopped back frem the intersection.

In about ten minutes I heard Carl

front of me. He got cut and came over to sit in the

they had to lecad it by hand. They use the

it at home he covered it with

four

larger amount of raisins. it

think I could use less rai-

of a loaf left tonight.
to

the mail because I wanted

the lower

fence near the

It was not
start his
read and parked off the road
cab
for the mail.

mill,
hoister  to
Tuesdays now. AFter he unload-

a tarp. He said it made a



January, 1987 21

As scon as the mail came we drove ever to his place. He
got inte the van. I especially wanted toc see if I could turn
the headlights back and forth from low beam toc high besam.
The cther day I was able toc turn on the high beam by pulling
the lever toward me, but as scon as I released the lever it
went back to low beam. I tried to get it te stay on high
beam but couldn't de 1t. I did find that the bell would ring
if I got ocut and closed the door with the lights on.
2b6th

The low last night was 38, but the ground froze. It
must have been because the air was drys and the esvaperation
of the water acted as a coolant. At eight o'clock the tem—
perature was 41. The high today was S4. Three degrees higher
than vyesterday. There wasn't much water coming ocut of the
snow. It was dryving out nearly as fast as it melted. There
was less water rumiing down the wheel tracks than vesterday.
There was bright sunshine all day with occasicnal gusts of
wind.

I drove down early to get the mail. The mailman was
late again. I parked up the rcad a shert distance from the
mailbox. Carl came up on his small motorcycle, and stopped
by the pickup. Then came arcund and sat in the cab. After
waiting half an hour, Carl decided tc go heme and wait  for
me there. It was ancther fifteen minutes hefaore the mail

arrived. There was a birthday card for Mike from George, and
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a bunch of junk mail. There was no mail for Carl. I sent cut
the check for the power, and a tape toc Oma from Carl.

At Carl's, I inspected the van and left some of +the
literature that came with it under the passenger seat. Carl
had the little—utility trailer hooked up to the Luv  pickup.
The trailer looked too small te haul twe pallets of wood. I
asked him 3if the thought it would carry  twe pallets. He
=aid, "I'm going to get only one, after all. With two the
load would come out passed the tailgate.”

I was about ready to come back up here, but Larry, and
Cactus showed up. We talked for a while. Then Larry and Carl
loaded scome big chunks of wood that Carl couldn't split for
cock-stove wood, into Larry's pickup. They would go into the
big heater that Larry has.

Then Carl said tc them, "Did you notice my new Volks-—
Hagen bus?" He pointed at the fRerostar.

Cactus asked, "Did you bring i1t up from Coos BHay®?

Carl said, "It's not mine. It's Jim's." They went oaver

to look closer.

Cactus said, "That’'s new. It must have cost about
$H2,000." I made neo comment on the cost, but opened the

sliding—-side door, and then the back doar .,
Larry said, "There's lots of rocom in there. You could

make a hed. It sure is a fine rig."®
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Last night the temperature got down to 32. A strong
gusty wind blew, and there was a trace of snow on ftep of the
ice this morning. I took a walk down the road in my big coat
with the hood over my head and felt quite comfortakle. The
light snow was melting, and although the footing was good,
mud collected on the soles of my shoes.

Back inside the dugout I started cleaning the mud off
my shoes with a broom. The storm door swung open. I thought
it strange because I thought I had closed it tight. Then I
saw Carl pushing on the inside door. I stepped aside. He
camg in and asked. “"Where did yoeu get all the mud on  your
shoes?"

I said, "I took a walk down the road. The trace of snow
melted and made the surface muddy . The ground underneath was
st1ll frozen."”

He was locking for a small pulley to make a rope start-—
er for a small AC generator. The ratchet mechanism an  the
old starter had worn out. We went out to the furnace room
and searched for cne, but we couldn‘t find any. He thought
there might be one on an old washing machine at his place. I
said, "I'll ge down with vou and drive the Aercstar back up.
The road looks pretty god now.

At his place we locoked at the washing machine. There
was a pulley on it that he thought would work. I thought it
was too large. The wind made it so cold and uncemfortable he

decided to wait for a warmer day to work on it.

]
.........
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We went over and got into the Aerostar. I turned the
key far encugh to start the clock. It was about eleven
minutes fast. Remembering the instructicns in the bock I set
1t with my watch which had the right time. Then I turned the
key to start the motor. It started on the instant the key
reached the start position. I released the key immediately.
I think Carl wasn't sure the motor was rurming. He said, "It
started good even after sitting here such a long time.”

I let the meotor vrun for a while, then said, Phimll, I
guess it's run long encugh. I think I°'11 start for home.®

He got ocut and said, "I'll see you at mail time."

On the county road I set the cruise contrel at 43 miles
an hour, mainly for practice. It worked fine. Eoming up the
hill I left the gear shift in second which would give 1t the
right amount of power for the hill. I parked ocut at the
peint near the tracter. Walking down from the point I could
well believe the chill facter brought the temperature down
to fifteen degrees.

Later I told Mike I thought I would ge to town tomor—
row. He couldn't think of anything we nesded in town.Then
asked, "What dc you want to go toe town after?®

I said, "That's a good question.” Then, after a pause.
"I want to get a wheel for that car.”

He exclaimed, "What car?®

The one that's sitting out there on the point.”

He didn't say anything, but scon put on his cap and Jjacket

and went out the door. I saw him head out toward the point.

1y
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When he came back he said nothing. I asked him, “Did
you see 1t."

"Yes." He said. Then remarked, "Carl says there is
nothing wrong with it except the motor deoesn't run.®

I wondered what made him think such a thing. Then I
remembered Mike was sleeping when Carl came in. Carl had
said that he couldn't start the motor on the aC generater
because the rope starter was broken. Mike must have heard

that part of ocur conversation.
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1st

A cold wind was blowing yesterday, and as I took a run down
the hill, I felt the cold more than I did at any time last win-
ter. It wasn’t a bitter cold. My ears and face didn’t feel frost-
ed, but I felt chilly all over. Maybe the reason for this is that
the pores of my skin did not close up to hold in the heat.

It was warmer today, but I still felt the cold, probable for
the same reason. Yesterday I went out and sat in the cab, think-
ing that the sun would warm it up, but it did not. The strong
wind found chinks in the seals around the windows that let some
cold air in. Not much, but it could be felt. Today I sat in the
cab and it was warm.

I looked down on the desert. It was about three quarters
covered with water, which was low for this time of year. Several
little birds were perched on the telephone line. From time to
time they would fly down to the ground and then back up again.
They must have been spotting bugs of some kind on the ground. I
wondered what bugs would be around in the cold weather. But, of
course the sun was making the ground warmer than the air. I did
not get out to investigate, but a small mosquito-like insect flew
onto the windshield. I figured there must be other insects out

there.
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I made some applesauce this morning, and baked an applesauce
cake. I put most of it in the freezer to keep from eating too
much. I’m thinking of making more cakes, and putting them in the
freezer. I will have some handy in case we have company .

Last night I had a peculiar dream:- We were living in a
house on level ground, with fields all around. About fifty yards
from the house there was a piano. The sun was shining and the
wind was blowing. Seated at the piano was Henry Blair. He was
playing a tune that I thought was remarkable:- The notes of the
melody came out loud and distinct and were not lost in the harmo~
nic notes which were subdued. I thought, "Henry can sure play
good." I woke up thinking of the beautiful music. I thought that
maybe the TV was on. But, of course, there is no TV in my bed-
room. Then I thought, "That was music I made up in my mind."

The census forms were supposed to be picked up today, but no
one showed up for them. I called Dora and asked her if anyone had
been around to get hers. She said that she had them ready, but no
one had been there. "A couple of years ago I filled out some kind
of census forms, not like these, and they were on the table
several days before they were picked up."

I said, "We haven’t made any out since the last census ten
years ago. Maybe you dreamed about it, and now your dream is
coming true."

"No. I remember it clearly. It wasn’t the same as these."
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4th

This wmorning I called Mel Henry to find ocut  if my
reading glasses were veady. He said that they were not
veady. Later he called toc say that he had been confused and
had not cordered the reading glasses. Now he will aget vright
on  1t. They will be ready in ten or twelve days. He will
call me when they are readvy.

I called Dr. Pitts’® office. I was told that the cata-—
ract cperation is scheduled for July fifieenth. I should be
at the hospital at seven a.m. I'm tc be at Dr. Pitts' office
on the tenth at twe p.m. for preliminary work needed before
the operation. I don't know what that entails.
ath

Fhoned Dorathy today. Celia answered the phone. Dorathy
had just leTt. Celia has three kides now. The oldest is four.

I talked with Ellis on the radic this morning. He is
getting ready for cvernight guests hecause of the Field and
Game dinnery tonight.

bDuke arrvived around two p.m. I teld him about Mike.
Carl zame up around three o'clock. He wanted me to make out
his and Uma's application papers for permits to bunt on the
Steens Mountaln. I made out the applications. Then dished up
some strawbervies and ice cream. Carl left to attend to his
sprinklers. Duke and I had a dinner of vegetables and ground

beefsteak.
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Duke had brought a strip of carpet from his shop  In
Borring. He laid it in front of the washing machine and the
stove. I thought that I would move it later over in front of
my transmitter and the computer.

We went down te the Alvord Ranch. Duke wanted to see
the place. We visited with Loni and Ed in their living voom.
When Loni heard that Duke was a carpet laver, she =aid that
her brother had given her a carpet, and thought it would ao
in the bedroom. He measured the bedroom, and told her she
would need a carpet 14 by 16 to cover the floor. She said
that the carpet she had was 10 by 12. He said, "You could
leave a border of bare floor arcund the =dges.”

He asked her guestions about the ranch. He left arcund
nine p.m. Up here we agailn discussed theclogy. I fimally
began to understand that he was a fudamentalist. He believes
that it is important to believe that Christ is Bod.

Duke got ready toc sleep on the cot, and I came over to
my bedrcom.
7th

Got wup at 7:30 this morning. Duke had been up since
Z:30, and had gone Tor a walk up the side hill. He was
reading when I came in. He started talking about End Times,
but I thought he said enzvmes. What he was saying didn't
make any sense when it came to enzymes. Finally he said
semething that made me realize he was talking about snd

times, the end of the world.

.....
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He didn't eat any breakfast:; left for Mann Lake arcund
eleven o'clock.

I Fixed a breakfast for myself, swept the Floor, and
moved the strip of carpet over in front of the transmitter
and computer.

Ellis arvived arcund three c'clock with Ron Bartels
Boeyd Claggets. Bovd is retivred from the Fish and Game Com—
mission. Ron will be the new biclegist for this area. Bowd
had been here once when the windmill was still operating.
they were here for about half an hour. I gave them the gy and
tour. They agreed that the greenhouse was too hot for toma—
toes.

It vained most of the day bringing .13" of precipita—
tion. I checked inte the Beaver State Net, and the Oregen
Emergency Net. Alice said that Carclee had told her that
Mike was under the weather. When we signed off she said good
night to him. Apparently she didn't know he was in  Pendle—
ton.

The cattle are not coming into the vard, so it locks as
though the grass will not get cleaned cut in the vard.
8th

This morning I set up a sprinkler in the east strawber-—
ry patch. The cne I left running last night in the west
patch quit rumning during the night. A coupling came apart

in the pipe line.

3
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I picked strawberries on one side of the east patch.
Then started the sprinkler that stopped last night. I will
change the sprinklers this evening.

At mail time I mailed the package toc Oma, a subscrip-
tion to the Scientific American, and forwarded a letter ia
Mike.

John Clemens, his wife, Vicky, and =on, Kellen, showed
up. John is the county appraiser. I showed them all through
the place. They will be living in Fields during the time it
takes to do the appraisal work in this area. It will proba-
Bly be all summer.

The cattle seem to be afraid to come near the place so
it loeks as though the grass will be a five hazard this
sSummer .

The pipe line to the sprinklers came apart at the valve
where it crosses the draw. I recomnected it, and changed the
sprinklers on the sirawbervies.

I saw a cow coming down the road from the peint,. but it
never got down this way very far.

I tried to call the hospital in Pendleten, but Ed  was
on the line so will try again in the morning.

Fth

Carl Thomas came up early this morning. He was going o

vide his motorcycle up one of the mountain reads lecking for

voung chukars.
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Between three—thirty and four—thirty there was =z heavy
thunder storm that brought only .03 inches of rain. I went
for a hike late in the evening. As I neared the point I saw
three critters below the rcad. They did not spook and LT,
but crossed the rcad teo the upper side. Cleose to the point I
saw a cow lying down. I stood still for a while, then walked
cn  down the hill leooking back to see what the cattle would
do. At the power—line cressing I locoked back with the field
glasses and saw three blacks with the one +that had hbhesn
lying down and a tammed white face feeding along the slope
above the road.

I walked and jogged to the top of the lower draw.
Coming back, not using the field glasses, I watched the
cattle feeding along the slope. I wondered if they would see
me and run when I got near. Now I saw that the tanned cow
had a black—Tace calf with her. They did not run, and I
hoped they weould come on up to eat in the vard.

Arcund B:15% a thunderstorm with heavy winds came up. We
got .02 inches of precipitation.

The plastic in one window tore out. That plastic
doesn’'t last leng when there no glass to protect it frem the
wind and sun.

The flashes of lightening would kneck cut the power for
seconds at a time. 1 was surprised that there was ne  long

blackout.
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It was calm and nearly clear this morning. Cirvus
clouds began moving in rapidly from the scuth. Then cumulus
clouds and thunder heads began to show Up. By nine o’'clock
it was becoming avercast and heavy surface winds came from
the west.

They are driving cattle froem the Kueny Ranch over o
the Recaring Springs Ranch, and they needed someons to drive
the truck over to bring the men back. Carl drove the truck
over.

A thunderstorm came through arcund 10:15, and there was
a downpour of rain with heavy winds. Thereafter the sun came
cut, but the wind continued. I uncoupled the pipe line thus
stepping the sprinkler in the garden.

I found a rell of vinyl plastic in the back room. How
Mike could have missed it is a mystery, unless it was some
he was saving for ancther purpose.

When the wind slacks off T will put a piece in the
place of the broken glass. Then I1'11 renew the old plastic
in cther parts of the window.

At ten—thirty this morning the barometer was down  to
30.00. The temperature had dropped toc S57. A second thunder—
storm  arvived bringing wind and rain. The Ffirst storm
dumped .27 inches.

I drove the truck down for the mail after twe ofclock.
My reading glasses arrived, and a Father's Day card tc Carl

Themas. I toock 1t and some strawberries over to him.
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I pulled 2ll the staples cut of the window frame so
that the new plastic would rest on the wood better. 1  cut
the plastic te size and stabled it intoc place, then to keep
the plastic frem slapping back and forth the full distance
between the top and the bottom, I nailed a slat across  the
center. It is the slapping back and forth that gradually
breaks 1t at the staples.

It is now ten minutes passed ten and it has been rain—
ing steadily since six o'cleck, not hard but if it keeps up
like this all night it should amount to a2 considerable by
morning.

The second storm brought .38 inches of rain.
1&th

There was .12 inches in the rain gage this morning.
This brought the total for twenty—fouwr hours to .65, which
was the most reported on the weather net. The barometer was
30.31 at eight c'clock. Mow at two—thirty it is 30.28 and
going down.

The phone and power were both off this morning. Carl
came up while it was off. He said that the power was on when
he left home. He has all the circuits working except one.

Before he left to go back I said, "I'll be down as soon
as the power comes on here.®

It came on scon after he left. I put on my mew glasses.
and carried the Volt—-0Ohm meter out toc the pickup, and drove
down to his place. There was an indicatien that it might

FAIT.
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At Carl's place I checked the circuit breakers in the
trailer house. The one in the lower—left—hand corner was off
and would not reset. Carl turned off the power at the power
pole, and I removed the offending circuit breaker. When it
was ocut it would reset. I remembered that, when I worked on
those breakers before, one could be resst ontly when 1t was
cut of the box.

In the afterncon I went cut to the point to close  the
windows of the two vehicles. A small green Ford was parked
near the Aevostar. I figured that hikers had left it there
while they hiked up the mountain.

This evening I walked down the road. The little car was
gone. There were footprints coming up the hill, so I won—
dered which way they went for a hike.

There was .06 inches of precipitation today. I tried
the phone arcund six fifteen and heard a dial teone so I
called Dora. She answered on the fourth ring. She said that
she tried to call me earlier but the line was busy. She said
that Alice Clark is in the Bend hospital for a gall bladder
cperaticon. Charlette will be there during the operation.

Mr. EClark went toc the Burns hospital last moenth, and
was sent from there to Bend where doctors found his  frouble
and were able to help him and he feels better than in a iong
time.

I feel very sad concerning Mike. They say that when Yo

die vyou cant take anything with vou. Now Mike cant take
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anything with him and he isn't even dead. He has more tocls
and more money than he sver had.

Low 43, at seven a.m. 54, bharometer 30.36. There wers a
few scattered clouds and it was calm.

A house wren made a lot of necise arcund and under the
eves of my bedroom. His wings seemed to beat as fast as  a
humming bird's. It was amazing how leoud was the scund of his
thumping and prying when he was locoking for insects.

I was busy all day. I put a blower in the air outlet
that Mike put in the top of the green house. It was 110 in
there. The blower brought the temperature down to 100,
However, it was a cocl day and the sun shown only part of
the time. Te ceol it down far encugh it will take a large
opening in the recof. The small blower canmnct deo the job.

I started down the hill to get the mail and met Carl
coming up  at the head of the draw. There was noc mail for
him, and only junk mail fer Mike. Carl asked if I still
intended toc go teo Ontarioc tomorrow.

I said, "Oh, yes. We'll have to get an early start. We
should leave here by five." He would be at the gate toc meet
me at that time.

I made an extra trip to the mailbeox because 1 remem—
bered that I needed the form for the weather repert. I
should have sent for it at the end of last month.

Carl theught that the two ceoolers I had in  the van
wowld be encugh. He wouldn't be buying many groceries. I put

& third ene in this evening.

-
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I tock out the suit case and left it in my bedroom.
Then used the wist broom to clean the carpet in the van.
igth

I got up at three-thirty this movning: and was ready to
leave at four—-fifteen. As I was driving cut toc the peint I
wondered  what I probably forget. The only thing I could
think of was the package of biscuits that I meant toc have on
hand 1f I got sleepy while driving.

I was down at the gate by four-thirty. Carl wasn't
there vyet, and I saw no headlights coming up the county
road. Thinking that he may have parked near the mailbox, I
drove down toe where I could see the mailbex. He wasn't
there.

I started backing up the hill and had just gotien above
the gate when Carl arrived. It was warm encugh in  the wvan
becausse the heater was putting ocut hot air by that time. I
think the ambient temperature was about 47. I hadn't locoked
at the thermometer in the weather station.

Daylight was breaking which was a peoor time to drive. I
used the headlights up passed the Juniper Ranch and kept =a
close loackeoeut for cattle along the yoad. Most of the ones we
saw were off the recad. We didn't have to drive inte the sun
because 1t was behind the eastern ridge. However. the bright
sky was vather blinding while we were in the shadows. When
it did come up from behind the last butte 1t was Tar encugh

to the right of us to be of no bother.

14
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I wanted %o gas up in Burns because the price was ten
cents lower there than in Juntura, but there was nothing
cpen  in Burns. If we had gone straight +to Buchanan from
Crane we would have saved twenty-eight miles., We van into a
couple of rain showers before reaching Ontaric.

In town I turned to the right off SW-4th Avenue as scon
as 1t appeared feasible. Carl thought we shouldn’'t turn sc
soocn. I had guessed that 1021 SW Sth Avenue would be west of
the place I got the glasses. We entered on the twelve-hun—
dred bleck and the numbers were lower toward the east. The
building was on the corner. We went passed the entrance to
the parking lot before seeing the number. It was onn our
left.

I twned arcund by backing into a diyiveway. There was
enly one parking space left and a car went into it before we
got te the entrance. I was about to lock for a parking place
ot the street, but remembered it was over an  hour to my
appointment. I said to Carl, "Let's find a place to eat.
He've plenty of time."®

It is hard to find a lunchroom in Ontario if you're not
acqguainted with the town. The one we did find had nc con—
spicuous  signs with a name. One sign said, "Drive in
window." which caught my eye. It was hard to tell if the
place was epen or net. I managed toc civrecle arcund into a
parking space. We had to walk almost arocund the building to

find a door that opened.



June, 1987 i1é&

We went in. With my old glaszses 1 couldn't read the
menut that was on the wall behind the counter. It was too far
back. Carl ordered a cheeseburger with everything on it. I
ordered a plain hamburger. Coffee was forty cents. Carl's
check came to #$1.4%. Mine was $1.29. They came wrapped in
aluminum foll on a tray.

We sat at a table by the window. When I was half way
through eating, Carl said, “ﬂhat 15 the time of your ap-
pointment?”

I said, "Eleven oc'cleck.”®

He said, "I see by that clock it is eleven now. HWas it
Idahe time or Pacific time?"®

Mow I was stumped. I was sure I had recorded the ap-
pointment for our time. I wondered if 1 had made a mistake.
Twelve o'clock seemed like an odd time. We decided we would
Just have be late.

I was half done with my sandwich, and decided ito eat
the rest in the van. I wrapped it back up in the foil, swal-
lowed the rest of the coffee. I said te Carl, “We can esat
the rest in the car." He gulped down the rest of his.

We had more trouble finding the place than the first
time, but a parking place was open. Inside I found a service
window with a givl behind it. I said, "I have an appoeintment
for eleven o'clock.! and gave my name.

She asked, "Which doctor was it with?"

I said, "Doctor Thornburg.®
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She said, "0Oh, Doctor Thornfeldt. Go to the window in
the next reoom.”

I found the window, gave the girl my name and said,
"lock's like I'm late for my appeintment.”

She looked through a file, "Well, nc. Your appointment
is for twelve.®

I thought, "Well, I was right the first time.”

Bhe =aid, "You could make cut these forms while vou are
walting.” Bhe gave me a clipboard with the forms. I ftook
them out to the van te 11l cut.

Most of the guestions were for ves or ne answers. One

guestion 1 answered ves toc was—— "Have vou ever had an
operation?” I was irritated with having te f111 out the
forms, but later realized it saved the docteor time. He

didn't have to examine for blocd pressure or anything.

The doctor saw me at eleven—thirty. He asked me what I
thought my trouble was. 1 =zaid, "I would like to have these
pre-cancerous melanomas removed."

He asked, "How do you know they are pre—cancercus?®

I said, "From the descriptiens I've read of them.”

I then asked, "If vou treat them, would I have to come
back tomorvrow and for several days? I live one—hundred miles
south of Burns, and it's a long way to drive up here.®

He asked, "Do vou live in a small town?®

I said, "Ne. I live on a milsite claim on  the Steens

Mounitain. ™
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I forgot to say that Dr. Thornfeldt gave me a list of
items to purchase at the Ontaric Pharmacy. Un the same list
there were the names of the tumors and how they were treat-
ed.

Carl drove from there. We had a hard time locating the
pharmacy. We had been told that it was vright next +to  the
hospital. We did not find it. I said, "Let's gt over to  the
motel and get reservations for the fourteenth and fifteenth
of July, and ask where the pharmacy is.

We got the reservations. The clerk locked in the phone-—
book, and found the address. It was 925 SW 3rd Ave. This
gave us something selid to go by instead of, "to vour left 3
bBlocks, then right +two, and then next right to the
hospital.” It didn't take long %o find the place. I must
say, though, we left the van acvross the street from the
motel, and found that it is harzardous to walk across  the
streset. There are no step and go signals or a distinct cross
walk, unless you go to a cross street where there are =1g—
nals. These are many bleocks apart.

I said te Carl, "If you want to go somewhere in  this
town vou should drive.®

The list of items came to %17.51.

Carl drove home. We gassed up in Juntura, and came back
by way of Buchanan to Crane. The mileage was 22.5 miles per

gallon.
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Before leaving Ontaric we shopped at Alberts=cn's. 411 I
bought was five gallens of Penzoil 10W-30 and three gallons
of distilled water marked 73 cents per gallon. When I got
home I saw that the girl had charged 83 cents a gallen.

At Princeten Carl was for getting an ice cream bar.
There were several different kinds. I got ene with a stick,
4% cents each.
12th

I tried cut the skin lotion. It seems to be better than
cthers I have used. The PreSun lotion doesn't have FABS. As
recommended by the doctor, I got strength 29. You put 1t on
in the morning and it lasts all day. I haven't used the sCap
vet, but will Saturday night.

I =lept guite well last night, but was tired today. I
sat and rvead in the Scientific American. I shaved before
putting on the PreSun lotion.

I drove down for the mail. There was none for Carl, but
I drove to his place with his jacket that he had left in the
van. He was keeping the sprinklers geing on his garden. He
had gone fishing in the morning and caught a goocd mess of
trout. He wanted to have some when his brother comes Satur—
day or Bunday. He said he slept socund last night, and that
the trip te Ontaric was more tiering than a hard day's work.

The Alvord pecple were rounding up some cattle and
driving them north.

I hesed down the Aerostar, and brushed dead insects off

the radiator.
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1st

Carl and Lavina came up to pick cherries. He parked his car
in front of the dugout. I went down with them, and started pick-
ing on the large tree. Carl was up on a limb of the small tree
where he could reach large clusters of cherries. Lavina was
picking from the limbs near the ground.

Before I could get my bucket completely full, they had
enough and were ready to go. I went up with them and we went
into the dugout where I turned on the fan so we could cool off.
2nd

Today I took two small buckets of cherries down to Dora. I
also took several tap—and—-die wrenches down to show Pat the ones
we had, because she has been saying that Mike took one of her
wrenches from her place. Also she thought he had taken some-large
pipe wrenches. I couldn‘t fine any old-large-pipe wrench here,
only the new ones Mike had bought during the last few years.

I drove the Aerostar because it was too hot to drive the
pickup. Thus it was a pleasure going down there. Dora was glad to
get the cherries. She said there were enough to make several
pies.

I went over to Pat’s. She said that one of the die wrench

looked 1like one Gallend used to have. Of course, you can see
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pictures in catalogs of wrenches that look like these. Since she
wasn’t positive that it was her wrench, I decided to bring them
all back with me.

I told her how Mike was taken to the hospital in Burns, and
of his condition.

She said, "After what’s happened to him, I think of how
short the time is for me." Then she told of how much trouble she
is having with things going to pot:- the septic tank is full, the
toilet doesn’t work, Nellie’s septic tank has to be replaced, the
pump had to be repaired. Then she said, "I hear you have half of
that quonset steel lying up there in the sagebrush. I would like
to have that put up here."

I told her that it would cost two-hundred dollars for bolts
and nuts to put the steel together. She said, "That would be bad.
There’s so much to be done around here, and I cant get anyone to
do it..

I said, "Well, maybe you should rent a place in town, and
let the landlord worry about the plumbing and the like."

She said, "I wouldn‘t live in town for anything."

I was sorry I had gone over to see her. The stench of cats
and chickens permeated the house. I stayed longer than I thought
I could. To see the living conditions of the place was most

depressing.
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3rd

Yesterday on my way back from Dora‘s I stopped at Hair’s.
They had already canned nine quarts of cherries, and had enough
left over to make a couple of pies. Lavina said that they use a
cherry pitter to get the pits out. It worked good. I was sur-
prised, because the one I have is just like it, and I thought it
mashed the cherries too much.

I made a cherry pie today. The juice broke through the crust
around the rim of the pie, and ran down between the glass side
and the crust. This reminded me that I had for gotten the method
I had used to make a good edge on a crust. The method was:— Make
the flutes around the edge before cutting off the excess. In fact
the way I did it there was no excess.
4th

I got up before seven this morning, and was busy all day
doing small chores. I made another cherry pie, and baked a batch
of muffins, using twice as much oatmeal than the last time, and
four tablespoons of molasses instead of three. I had greased the
pan with lard and baked it on in the oven, but it didn‘t keep the
muffins from sticking.

This afternoon a truck stopped out in front. Three people
got out. The man, who came to the door first, said his name was

Tom Bell, and that he had been here before. The other two were
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Don Hansen and his son Ronnie. They hadn’t been here before. Don
was impressed with amount of work we had done. He asked a lot of
questions.

The boy had his arm in a sling. Before they left it came out
that one of those three wheelers had gone out of control and
injured his shoulder. He said, "I found out that it could happen
to me.®

I gave them the grand tour, and took them down into the
garden to admire the big crop of cherries.

Later in the day a big cargo van stopped outside. Two fel-
lows got out. They were here when Jim Barnard and his family were
here. They were David Harris and David Coleman from Redding, Ca.
Coleman was drinking. He carried a cup with some kind of liquor
around with him. Harris was doing the driving and wasn’t drink-
ing. Coleman was very talkative. He said that they wanted to
bring us something, but couldn’t think what it could be because
we didn’t drink. Then he said, “Could you use a cantaloupe?"

I said, "I guess that I could use."™ He went out to the van,
and brought one in. I said, "Oh, I thought you would bring it
next time."

He does Vinyl lettering and graphics, and wanted to send me
something. I told him about the QSL cards. He will make up some
and send them to me. He said, "In exchange for that Globe on your

phone stand." It seems he is collecting Globes.



July, 1987 5

They left here headed for the buffalo barbecue in Denio.

I picked a small bucket of cherries tonight. This time I
picked them by pulling the stems off the branches. Thus I can
wash them, and get all those old blossom petals off before run-
ning them through the pitter.

Yesterday I picked the cherries by pulling them off the
stems, and even leaving some pits on the stems. With so many
broken cherries, I thought that washing them would take away a
lot of juice. I had to pick the old blossom petals off by hand.
The pitter worked okay, but it mashed up the cherries. That is
the reason George and I gave up using it when he was here one
time during cherry season.

George called this morning and we talked a long time. He
will call the Pendleton Hospital this week to see if they will
give him any information about Mike.
5th

I haven’t recorded that on Friday, the third, while I was
driving the pickup down for the mail, I met two fellows who were
walking up the hill near the lower draw. They weren’t carrying
back packs, so I figured they were headed for out place. I
stopped to find out.

They said they were from Boise, having flown over and landed

at Fields where they got instructions on how to get to our place.



July, 1987 6

They flew up this way and landed on the desert where the road the
leaves the desert. Their names were Bill and Jim. Bill showed me
the book, "The Spectacular Northwest," put out by the National
Geographic Society. He and Jim had been wanting to see our place
ever since they heard about it.

I told them I was going after the mail, and then over to
Carl Thomas’ place on an errand before I came back. I said, "Do
you want to get in and ride?"

At Carl‘’s I finished making out the order for a tire in the
Whitney catalog. I had to find out for sure if it was for only
one tire that he wanted. One tire $30.99 plus $8.35 for shipping
charges. I wanted to remember the price because I believe he
could get a tire just as good in Burns.

At last we got up here, and I gave them the grand tour. They
took pictures. Bill said, "My little boy couldn’t believe that
the story about you was true. I told him we were going to visit
you, and that I might sit in that blue chair where Mike was
sitting for the picture in the book."

Sure enough, Bill sat in the chair, and I put on my hardhat
and stood near by like I did when Robert Madden took the picture.
Jim took the picture from where he thought Madden stood. Then he

sat in the chair and Bill took our picture.
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From here they planned to fly to Denio, and stay over night

before flying to back to Boise. I drove them back to the desert,

but didn‘t wait to see them take off. They would have to look out

for other planes that were towing gliders.

hill.

I notice that I haven’t been recording my hikes down the

I have been jogging and walking to the lower draw nearly

every day. Most of the time this week the wind has kept the gnats

off,
eveni

weak

which was a help. One time I wore the light shoes. Friday
ng I made the trip feeling quite strong. Last evening I felt
at the start, but felt stronger on the way back.

I‘ve been noticing a rash breaking out on my forearms. Last

night I washed them with oilated-bar soap, and didn’t use the new

dry-s

Jook

skin lotion on them. It may be my imagination, but it doesn‘’t

so bad today.

I spent two sessions chopping out dead grass on the trail

around the engine house. I picked up several items that had

gotten lost in the grass. The temperature was down to seventy-

five, and a breeze helped me keep cool. The clearing off of the

dead

man t

about

grass seems like a hopeless task. There is too much for one
0 clear away.
Dorathy called this afternoon. I gave her a short briefing

. Mike. They will be out here some time in August.
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A man named Peterson called Mrs. Davis Friday and had her
call me to tell me that he wanted me to call him collect. In the
afternoon I called him. Apparently his phone is in an office of
Channel eight in Portland. He said he was coming out to get
pictures of the ground sailing on the Alvord Desert, and wondered
if he could come up here and get a story about our place. Mr.
Light had told him about us. He is eager to see our place. I told
him about Mike, and tried to turn him down, but finally gave in
and said, "Well, come on up." I thought it would be on the
Fourth, but he said Monday.
6th

I was up before seven. I didn‘t take time to put on the dry-
skin lotion. I don‘t intend to use it any more except on the
tumors. The dermatologist said that I should use the lotion on
them twice a day for three or four months.

I found that bathing with the oilated-bar soap left my skin
smooth enough without the lotion. I didn’t use it on my toes this
morning. This saved time.

I spent most of the time cleaning the place this morning,
even sweeping all the way back to the end of the tunnel.

When I was getting ready to shave, Carl showed up at the
door. He came up mainly to get his shaving gear that he left here

in his nap sack the other day. He said he was riding his motorcy-



July, 1987 9

cle over to Cottage Grove Saturday, and will be back Monday.
There was a get-to-gather of motorcycle riders. He didn’t have
time to go last year, and he didn’t want to miss out this year.

He asked about the shipping charges on that tire. I told him
what it was, and said, "Maybe you could get a tire in Burns for
about the same price.¥®

He said, "No. They don’t have any in Burns. They will order
one from the factory. The price would be around fifty dollars."

Today I found a tarp in the pack room that I used last year
for hauling the dead grass down into the garden. Then I whacked
away for an hour getting more grass ready to haul to the garden.
6th

I drove the pickup down for the mail. The mailman was so
late, I didn’t wait around, but drove on over to Carl’s to make
sure he was leaving Saturday, and also to see if I had left my
Parker Pen there. The pen wasn’t there. He said he would be
leaving early Saturday.

The ground sailers, and the glider people had left.

Peterson of Channel 8 didn’t show up.

I took a hike passed the power-line crossing this evening.
There was a good breeze that kept the gnats off. Also it kept me
cool, although it was warmer than yesterday evening.

Carl had cherry pie and coffee when he was here.
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The warm temperature this evening has brought out a lot of
insects, and they’re buzzing around my ears while I am writing.
7th

I was in bed by eleven last night, and slept quite well. I
got up after seven. I didn’t use the dry-skin lotion except on
the tumors on my head.

I watched the hearing of North, and thought he did very
well, and got off some advertisement for the Contras.

I hauled more dead grass down into the garden, and put it
below the big rock. Then chopped more weeds and grass under the
clothes line, and around the burning barrel.

I didn’t hike down the road this evening. I thought I would
work late hoeing the dead grass.

I ran the poem that Verne sent Mike into the computer and
printed it. Then put the original back into the envelope and
sealed the opened end with double-sided-scotch tape. I°11 mail
the letter to Mike tomorrow.

Today, when I shaved, I didn’t use the shaving cream, but
used the oilated-bar soap. It worked quite well, and I hoped it
wouldn’t be as harsh on my face as Gellet Foamy.
8th

It was partly cloudy most of the day, with a breeze from the

west.

10
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I baked a batch of muffins this afternoon. Besides oatmeal
and raisins, I added Ralston, a high fiber cereal. I baked them
at 350 degrees this time. After baking the last ones I didn’t
wash the pan, but cleaned it dry. This time the muffins didn’t
stick as bad as before.

I carried dead grass down below the big rock in the garden,
using the blue tarp folded once to make a smaller bundle that I
could carry on my back and get through under the branches of the
trees and not be held back.

I picked a bucket of cherries, leaving the stems as well as
some of the pits, on the branches. I believed it saved a little
time because I didn’t have to stem them up here.

I received a letter from Betsy. She is back working at the
store. The job at K-Mart was too hard on her injured knee. She
and Fred are coming out this summer to get the forty-six Chevro-
lette.

Duke called this morning. I told him about Loni being too
busy to have the rug measured. He told me to let him know when
she is ready to have the rug laid. He is going to visit Mike this
weekend if he has time. He called the hospital and asked how Mike
was. Someone there told him that Mike was doing very well. Said

that he was pleasant, and smiled a lot. He was good to talk with.

11
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It gave the impression that Mike was enjoying the place,
since he had an audience for his stories. He could tell them
whoppers with them thing they were true stories.
11ith

George called this morning. He said that his knees were
getting worse every day, and it was hard to walk or stand. He
sent me a check for twelve-hundred dollars. It came in the mail
Friday. In the letter he said, "You’ll need some spending money."
While he was about to say goodbye, Lois came in from a visit with
Harry. She told George to tell me hello. George asked me if I
wanted to talk with Lois.

I said, "Yes. I sure like to hear what she has to say."

We started talking about the cataract operation. She said
not to be impatient with the results. It would six months before
any real improvement could be seen. It would be six weeks before
the irritation from the stitches would be gone. At the hospital
where she had outpatient care they furnished a gown. That’s
different from the hospital here where you furnish your own. They
also furnished dark glasses that went over your regqgular glasses
and kept out light from the sides. These were furnished by the
eye doctor, I presume. I haven’t heard of anything like that
here.

I hoed and pulled grass around the propane tank in the

evening while it was cool and the sun was behind the mountain.

12
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Friday I drove to Ontario, stopping at the bank in Burns to
deposit the two checks into my checking account. I mailed a
letter at the post office, then gassed at the Chevron station,
and was on my way.

I ran into a few showers before I got to Vale.

In Ontario I headed for Carl Thornfeldt’s office to arrange

for an appointment in August. On the way there I had to follow my

nose because there were a lot of odd corners to turn.

At the doctor’s office the girl at the window made an ap-
pointment for August seventeenth.

I then drove over to Pitt’s office to make sure of the time
of my appointment there, whether it was two p.m. Mountain time or
Pacific time. It was Mountain time, so I had only twenty minutes
to wait. I didn’t have time to go shopping around town. I had
intended to look for a map of the city.

I sat in the waiting room, and was finally called to get my
eye examination. They put me through a bunch of eye tests, a kind
I had never had experienced or heard of. They put my head into a
sort of stanchion with my forehead against an upper part and my
chin against a lower part. I guessed it was for the purpose of
keeping my head steady. The first test consisted of a circle of
white-bright light with a red light in the center. I was to keep

my eye on the red light. The girl manipulated dials but what I

i3
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saw didn’t change in appearance. This was done for each eye, and
she recorded three dial readings for each.

Then she showed me a card with parallel 1lines, one set
horizontal, one set at an angle, and one perpendicular, and then
a picture of jumbled mixed curves.

With my head in the stanchion she shown a bright into my
right eye. The light would go out of sight, first one way and
then the other. It seemed that the least movement of my head
would cause it to go off center. She said that when I saw the
parallel lines, I was to use a sign with my right hand, straight
forward for horizontal, at an angle for upward-sloping lines, and
pointing up for perpendicular lines. The reason for the hand
signals was that if I talked it would through the 1light off
center.

She made adjustments and asked which way the lines went. But
all I could see was the jumble of circular patterns. Thus without
results she tried my left eye. At first I could see only the
jumbled pattern. Then unexpectedly the lines showed up. They were
very small black lines nothing like I had looked for. She made
adjustments and asked which way. I couldn’t remember the signs
she had given me. I used signs the way I thought they should be.
For horizontal I used my hand lying flat, for at an angle, my

hand tipped at an angle, and for perpendicular my hand on edge.

14
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It was a more natural way to do it. She said nothing but caught
on immediately.
She went over the series of adjustments again, going from hori-
zontal, to parallel, and to at an angle. When was satisfied with
the results with the left eye, she said, "Now that you know what
to look for, we’ll try the right eye.®

Now I did see the lines with the right eye. I think she was

checking the condition of the retina, especially the right eye.

15
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I came over here to the dugeut before six this MOTNIINg.
The high teoday was 85. The low was &, and at 8 a.m. 1t was
71. The sky was clear early in the morning, then before noon
a few high clouds came over, with cccasional gusts of wind.

Ellis hasn't checked initoc the net for several davs. He
is up on the mountain classifying mountain sheep. He and the
crew will make a hike down Big Indian Creek Canvon.

A phone call shortly after nine this moerning came froam
the office of the dermatclogist. The girl said that the
biopsy sample that the doctor took Monday turned cut to  he
free of cancer.

1 took one of those tablets for lowering the evehall
pressure last night, and can feel the effects today. Break-
fast made me partially gueasy, and it is hard %o accomplish
any work. It is especially hard te sit down and write.

Carl came up around sleven—thirty. He wondered 1f there
was any mail for them yesterday. I teold him that there was
none, and  that, if there would be any on Friday, I weould
bring 1t over. I teold him about the results of biopsy test.

I changed the sprinkler this morning. I have now pro-—
gressed with 1t across the garden. The next move will put
water on the new plum trees that I set cut in the vetch this
spring. I picked a few plums from the trees above the grape"'
vine. They are guite firm, but are ripe encugh o eat, and

have a good flavor.
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f1

I hiked down the road again this evening., but noct  as
far as usual. Scme pecple had tents up at the head of the
lower draw, and I didn't want to disturb them. I could see
them from a guarter mile up the rcad, but I doubt that they
Zaw mE.

1 called Dovra teday, and told her how the bicpsy came
cut. She said that Jim, Pat, and Nellie would be back from
Ontaric tomorvow. Nellie had an appointment to see Dr. Fitts
te find cut if he could do something for her eye that was
cperated on for cataracts in Eugene last spring. &fter the
cperation she had trouble with the eye, and doesn't see good
with 1t. They are staying two nights at a motel, a different
cne than the one I staved in. Dora will let me know the name
of 1t tomorrow. She stayed in the same place several times,
but she cant remember the name or the leocation.

I talked with Lavina. She was processing corn  to  put
inte the freerzer. I told her what a fine job Carl did on @y
road and that it was easier walking on it now.

Nearly every afterncon a flock of voung chukars feed
ocut in front. The eat cheat—grass seed, and catch grasshop—
pers. They are about cne-third grown, and remind me of vyoung
turkevys.
2i=st

High yesterday 86, low last night 59, and at eight a.m.
71. There are a few clouds, and a wind from the west of

about five miles an hour.
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Ellis checked inte the net this merning from his  home.
We moved down freguency and had a good wisit. The sheep
count was low, as well as the deer count. Thev saw cnly five
four-pointers. His knees got sore from hiking down hill s=so
much.

He saild he was geoing over to mow John Sharff's  lawn.
Jehn wasn't feeling very good, because a board fell sn  his
head when he was working on his cabin up onn the Steens
Mountain.
2&nd

Bruce and Carl came up yvesterday, and brought back the
wheel and tire that I gave them the other day. They wanted
to know how much I wanted fTor the tire. I said, “1 gave vyou
that tire. I den't want anvthing for 1t.°

They brought the shredder vp from the garden and lcaded
it ontoc their pickup. I gave them the new flaat wvalve Ffor
the carburetor, saying, I don't think that one I made of
covk will still be working. Sas may have scaked into the
cork and made 1t heawvy.”

I drove down to get the mail vesterday. There was none
for Carl and Oma. The Buwrns papesr came. There was an article
in it saying that a stretch of the county reoad would have &
hard top put on it between Fields and Gndrews. That should
be good news Tor Dova. SBhe drives to Fields guite often.

I hiked to the lower draw vesterday evening. and got

back in time to change the sprinkler bhefors dark.
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Gecrge called this morning. Leis had gone te the nurs—
ing home to see Harry. He is back from the hospital.

She was having trouble getting her eves to work togeth-
2r. Mow she has cvercome the problem, and reads a lot more.

They have been riding their tricycles again. He says
his right knee gives out if he gees too far. He thinks he
will apply for an airplane ticket to make the trip to FPort-
land on the 20th of September. He will bring heavy underwear
with him.

1 hiked nearly toc where the tractor road turns off  on
the hill above the gate this evening.
=23d

The sprinkler wasn't turning properly and wasn't throw-
ing water wvery far this morning. I checked the pond, and
found 1t nearly dry. I cleaned the drainage pipe, and 1left
the wvalve to the garden turned off. At 8:15 I turned it an
again. The sprinkler worked fine and threw water a good
distance. I checked the sprinkler at 3:45. It was harely
twrning. I turned off the valve again, and will leave 1t on
until I get back from my hike arcund 8:15. If we don't get a
heavy rain scon there won't be any water for the garden. I
suppose the spring for the tap water i= nearly dry alsc.

Around noon a young man and his mother stopped in. They
are Tfriends of Carl and Bruce. The mother asked a 1ot of
guestions, and they staved here about an hour and a half. He

signed his name 1n the register, Reoger Cook. He didn't  put
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in his mother's name, and I don't remember what she said it
was. He drives legging trucks in the Coos Bay area.

biell, I didn't go for my walk. I checked the pressure
of the tap water. It was &5 pounds which was 7 pounds above
normal. This indicated that the overflow at  the oressure—
relief barrel was plugged. That would account for the lack
of water in the pond, because i1t receives most of its water
from this pipe.

I got some tocls and climbed the side hill :ioc the
bBarrel. I soon saw the likely place where the pipeline was
plugged. It was at the comnections of the double eslhows
above the barrel. Here the water is turned back deown. I
quickly pulled the cormections apart. & mass of hair rocts
were stuck in the elbows.

The greatest difficulty in going up there and back is
seeing my fTooting with one eye.

I turned the sprinklier on at 7:30.

Teday I charged the battery in the pickup, and got the
motor started. I intend to start the motor every day in
order to keep gas in the carburestor.

I called Dora this evening, and told her about the news
in  the Buwns paper concerning the rcad construction  that
will be done between Trout Creek and Denic, and the work
that will be done betwesen Fields and Andrews. She said,
"Wait until Pat hears about that. She will go wild." Pat  is

against paving the county read north from Fislds.
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Fat, Nellie, and Jim went toc Ontario Thursday where
Mellie saw Dr. Fitts. Nellie's eye had the same trouble that
Dova’s had. The doctor used a lazer beam te destroy the
tissue that was blocking her vision.

Mellie weould not go back to Eugene where she had the
cataract operation. Bhe didn't want toc go te Ontaric either,
but Pat insisted. Now Nellie is delighted with the results.
She has an appcintment with Dr. Pitts Tuesday at 11:30. She
will get a prescription for glasses then.

I think it will be a week or two before I get a pre-
scription for glasses.

I called the Haiv's. As usual lavina answered. She was
making strawberry jam. They have had several pickings from
their patch. As to the road work she said that the corews
will come down this Fall and begin work. They will get the
voad ready Tor the paving next yvear.

I didn't take the tablet of Neptazane last night, and
feel better today, and by evening smuch better. I'm not
taking one again tenight, but will tomorrow night .

Ellis checked intc the first net mobile on Hart Moun—
tain. We didn't try to make contact. There was tooc  much
static on the radic.
25th

Toeday Carl drove the van for me to Ontaric. We left
before 7 a.m. He lcaned me %20 sc that I could buy gas in
Juntura. The money would do until I cashed a check in Ontar—

io.
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We were in Ontaric early encugh to sat lunch before my
eye appointment. At the eye clinic I told Carl to aget his
hair cut and I would meet him at the clinic. IFf I should  go
for a walk after the doctor was through, I would be right
back.

It twned cut I had to wait a half heur past  the ap-—
pointment time before I got waited on. AFter that there were
iong wailting pericds between the different steps in  the
examination. I was in there over two hows. I had figured
that I would have time to go shopping before the appointment
with the dermatelogist. Dr. Pitts gave me the prescription
for the glasses, and said to come back in four months. The
girl lecked in her beck and made cut  an appaintment for
December 17th. I asked her if Nellie Sherman was coming in
today. She said, "Nellie should be here in fifteen minutes.
Hould vou like do waili to see her.?"

I <=aid, "I cant wailt. I have ancther appointment  to
mest.

We got over to Dr. Thornfeldit's place with five minutes
to spare, but it was a half hour before he could see me. He
examined the results of last week's work, then decided to do
a shave bicpsy on one tumor, and do some sCcraping en  ancth-
27 .

He had to do a bileopsy on another patient, and said he
would be back in a few minutes. Time went by and he didn't
return. A nurse came in and said, "It will be a whils long—

i

ev .
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I asked her if it would be all right for me to go  to
the bank while I was waiting. I said, “"The bank clocses at
five c'clock. I would like to cash a check.®

Bhe went to check with the docter, and came back saying
it would be all vight. The bank is in the area where Albert—
sons is lecated.

I got into the bank just in time. A= scoon as I was  in
they locked the doors.

I showed the teller my driver's license. She locked at
my picture and sald, "That looks like you all right.” She
went over to a computer and punched a few keys. I think the
moenitor showed my bank account in Burns.

1 let myself cut the door. It could be apened from the
inside, but net from the cutside. At the van I said teo Carl,
lets doe our  shopping before we go o Dr. Thornfeldi's
cffice. That way, when he gets through with me, we can hesad
straight home."”

At  Albertsens I beought six jugs of distilled water 83
cents each, (At Safeway it is P9 cents.?) then I get  four
half—gallen cartons of ice cream, and four cans of Frozen
orange Jjuice. Carl bought from Oma's list:—~ six cans of
Master's Treat Cat Food, (witheout fish), one pound of but-
ter, two pounds of margarine, one bottle of FPalmolive Dish
Scap, then a gallon of milk not on the list.

Back at Dr. Thornfeldt's office he scraped on  one

tumey, then on ancther did the shave bicpsy. It seemed a



leng time before I geot cut of his office. Acrtually it was
cloese te an hour. We started home at 6:15 Mountain time.

The sun was geing down this side of Princeton. We got
home at nine-fTifteen. HWe transferred his groceries to  his
pickup. We beth forget the jug of milk that was in a cooler
with my stuff.
g2&th

I was late getting toc bed last night. What happensd——1I
was  on my way to my bedroocm arcund ten o'cleck, and, as I
was passing the engine house, I heard & vat inside. I turned
my Tlashlight onto the shelves at the back. and saw the rat
partly hidden behind a box. I rushed back te the dugout  and
got the Dura-matic pistel. From passed experience I was
afraid he wouldn't be in the same place when I got  back.
Well, he was. I had a geod aim at him and pulled the trig—
ger. The pistel didn't fire. I tock the thing intc the house
where I could see what the trouble was. There was no  shell
in the chamber, and the magazine was empty.

A Tew day age I had trouble with an empty shell eject—
ing. I had to remeove the magarzine and almost take the piszstal
apart before I could remove the empity shell. I ociled every
working part., and put only four shells inte the magazine in
case it still jammed. I couldn't remember ever using the
fouwr shells.

I put one shell in the barrel and one in my pocket. I
tigured I wcoculd relcad by hand sc as not to be troubled with

a shell jamming.
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Mow I was suwre the rat would be gone. I didn't see him,
but he made a noise at the cther end of the shelf from where
I saw him the first time. I guided the light beam at various
places along the shelf. I did this for about fifteen minutes
{1t szeemed like an hour). Finally I heard him moving behind
aobjects along the shelf. In about five minutes he was back
in the original place. Still he didn't show himself. I went
inside up close to the shelf, and pushed a box to one side.
He pcoked his head up from behind a bucket and glared intcoc
the beam of the flashlight. I blasted away. He bounced up
onte  the bucket, kicked a few times, and lay s=still. I
watched him a while toc make sure he was dead, then left him
there for burial in the morning.

I figured that this was the last of the rats that had
invaded the buildings even the dugout.

I took the pistel with me going toward my bedrecm. On
passing the tin building deoor, I heard a noise in  there.
Thinking it might be ancther rat. I went inside and flashed
the light around. There are a lot of heards Iving on the
rafters overhead. This makes a good walkway for rats, and
alsc a hiding place. As long as they don't move or make a
sound there is ne way to tell where they are. Scmetimes they
will make a thumping scund, staying in one place, and alwavs
cut of sight. As you move the light arocund te different
places, they will sometimes move, and vyou - can hear them

skitter across the beards. You keep playing the light arcund
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I stayed inside most of the day to make sure I wouldn't
miss a call from George.

Lavina called early this morning. I teld her about the
trip to Ontaric, and the treatment for the pre-—cancercus
tumers. They went toe Buwrns vesterday. They met a woman  in
Bafeway wheo had a cataract cperation in Bemd recently. While
there they vented a small house for a week. It had cocking
facilities and cost less than a motel roocm.

I spent quite a bit of time writing in the log. This
passed the time pleasantly. I typed the May 2nd log inte the
computer and printed it.

The gresnhouse was up o 110 this merning when I turned
en  the blower. The temperature lowered to 84, but was back
up to 100 in the afterncon.

Before putting on the FPreSun I shaved. Looks as though
I will have tc shave every morning in order to put  on a
fresh laver of PrsSun.

I saw on TV that a sunscreen of 34 is being scld.

I opened one of those boxes that Mike packed books  in.
I found the medical dicticnary, and checked the names of
those tumors. The book gives the phonetic pronunciations.
One name wasn't in there, but I found it in the big dicticn—
ArY .

I cpened up a very—old jar of apricots. They had plenty
of sugar, and the Tlaver of almonds was guite strong. Sever-—

al of the jars I cpened had no flavor and I couldn't  tell
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Well, this is bath night. The next ocne will be Tuesday
oy Wednesday making them twice a week. I will use the lotion
2x for three days, then every cther day.
23rd

Sunday three people on mctorcycles stopped out  in
front, two men and a woman. The cldest man with a full heard
said, "I bet vou don't remember me..”

I said, "I sure don't."

He said, "I'm Frank Lake's son.®

I said, "Oh, Larry. You have put on guite a disguise.
It's been ten years since I saw you.” He was a boy then. Now
he was a stranger to me, but toc him I was the same cold Jim.
He introduced me tc his wife, Shawn, and to his friend, @ran
Feed.

Larry has been living in Bend for several vears. I told
them that Mikes daughter and her husband cwned the BRangle
Tree. Shawn said, "I've been there several times.” They
didn't know Carclee was Mike's daughter.

I showed them the celd room and the back  tunnel. I
didn't show them the greenhouse because i1t i1s such a crummy
place. It was never a place I would care te show anvone. Now
I have pulled cut all the weeds that had taken over most of
the growing space. Three of the trees in the pots seem dead.
fne of them is growing. The tall tomato plant has  withered
nearly to the greund. One day two weeks ageo it was 150 in

there.
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Larry was very talkative, but I felt as though I  was
listening toc a stranger. They stayed arcund for half  an
hour. I tocld them that Mike was in the hospital in FPendle-
ten, and finally told them how he get there. Shawn said that
1t was a good facility.

They tock off and drove up passed the mine and around
the farther ridge. Later I thought I heard them come back
down, but I wasn't sure.

Yesterday Carl Thomas came up with his broather, Rich-
ard. Carl needed gas and bought fifteen gallon. Then we dug
angle worm=. They left without the werms. I saw them on the
bench outside.

Last night, on my way to my bedroom, I heard something
in the plum trees. Surmising 1t was a porcupine I came back
in and got the rvifle. The scund came from the east end of
the line of trees. I went arcund the weather station and
peinted the beam of the flash light inte the trees. The
animal had his back toc me so I couldn't get a shet at his
head. I pelted him lengthwise through his back. The bullet
didn’'t hit a vital spot, but he did fall to a lower limb. I
shot four more times just at his bedy. I never could get a
shet at his head. I thought he fell tc the greund. Now I saw
what I thought was ancther one farther cut ocn the 1limb. I
shoet this suppesedly second cne several times. It fell to
the ground and reolled down the steep slope. I thought it was

running away and shet several times more. In the poor ITight
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I saw scmething that might have been him lyving still, but
again I thought it could just be a rock. I couldn't see what
I thought was the first one.

Because of the weak bheam froem the flashlight I decided
to wait until morning (o leck for them.
2&th

On  the twenty—third when I locked for the porcupine 1
could find only one of them. It was where I saw it the night
before. At that time I wasn't sure if what I saw was a rock
or if 1t was it. I decided to bury it cutside the gavrden on
the west side. Before I dug a heole I had to run a zprinkler
that would scak the ground and make the digging easier.

I brought the tall sprinkler ocver from the east side
and set it up. The impeller spring was cut of adiustment. It
was up sc high I couldn't reach it, =0 I turned the head a
few turns with the sheovel hoping it would start turning in a
circle. It didn't turn, but by luck the head stopped when
the water was falling on the spot where I wanted to dig. it
ran there all night and most of the next day.

Yesterday [ dug the hele and geot him buried. The sun
waz hot and the temperature was 85, Actually I was suwrprised
that I got the jeob done.

I drove down to get the mail on the twenty—fourth. The
forms for reporting the weather arrived. There was a letter
to Carl from Oma. Carl and his brother had been up here  in

the morning to get angle worms. Dick wondered if I still had
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the CB rig that Ellis loaned me. He wanted to try it to use
in his pickup. The CB rig was in the cab of the ‘&4 pickup.
We went cout te the peint and set it up in the van. Then
tried to communicate with Carl in his pickup. He could hear
me Okay, but his transmitter didn't seem to work. He Tinally
got 1t going.

We decided to try talking with each other between his
place down by the desert and up here on the point. He kept
transmitting all the way to his place. I heard him once when
he was on the county road, but thereafier never heard him at
all. Later he said that he heard me at his place but not
very loud.

Wednesday, when I took Oma's letter to him, I gave Dick
Ellis' CB transceiver. It was of no use to me hecause Carl
couldn't hear it.

We figured that maybe the switch on Carl’s was faulty,
so I breught it up here, tested the switch, and found it
Okay. There could be something wrong with the microphone
itself.

Yesterday I made out a check for the power bill. It was
the same as the one last month, $3&6.84.

Un the 24th and 25th I heard a porcupine below the plum
trees. I couldn't find him. Yesterday, while I was trying %o
rake the grass cut from under the small cherry tree, I heard
the porcupine again. I traced the sound te a place along the
fence. O0f course, the sound guit when I tramped through the

vetch toward the fence.

o L
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I went up on top and started searching down through the
jungle of brush made by the new shoots of the plum trees. No
luck. I went back to racking, then heard the scund again.
Mow it was getting dark. I went up and got a flashlight and
searched aleng the fence from the lower side. On the uppeEr
side the ground comes down sco steep it makes a vee with +the
fence. I reached over and guided the beam aleng the vee. I
could see nething of the porcupine. I had come ko the con—
clusicon that the cone that I had shot was stuck scmewhers and
couldn't move.

I continued the search, and showed the light through
the fence from the lower side. Then saw him. The light had
toe be at just the right angle, octherwise I would look right
at the spot and not see him. The fence has two lavers of
chicken wire which makes 1t difficult to get the muzzle of
the rifle through the mesh sc that it would point at his
head. When the bullet struck him he never moved. This made
me wonder it he had already been dead, and it was vet ancth-—
ey one that had been making the scund.
26th

The women who came with Dick were due back from Reno
this afterncen. Carl said he would bring them up here to see
the place, and pick s=ome cherries late in the evening when
it had coceled down. The high teoday was 92.

ATter 1 came back with the mail I made my way down

through the jungle of plum sprouts. that had come up  from
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Carl and Dick didn't' show up with the women today.
Maybe the heat held them back, and maybe they didn't want to
brave a thunderstorm that came up late in the evening.

After checking inte the OEM I went down and picked a
halt bucket of cherries. I came up just before a thunder-—
storm started.

I read in the Commodore &4 program manual. Then pitted
the cherries. 6t first I thought I would pit a small portion
of them and wait until tomorrow to do the rest, but kept at
1t until I finished at nine oclock.

At one peoint while I was pitting chervies I remembered
that the windows of the vehicles at the point were Cpen. I
dashed out there in the rain and clesed them. I sat in the
Aerostar for a while to catch my breath, and leck cut over
the desert. Evidence of rain showed up in part of the
desert, in cther parts the wind was raising dust clouds. The
wind was rocking the van.

George called this morning. He says he tires gquickly.,
and has prickly sensations in his muscles above his knees.
He was putting a cleck together. It was in a kit form where
you de the finishing work on the wooden case. The kit cost
%33. He bought lacguer and sandpaper that came to $8.50.
That makes $41.350.

He has decided teo come out here in September instead of

August. The weather will be cocler then.
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30th

Sunday Carl came up with Dick's daughter, Florence, Mas
Thomas, and Mrs. Stan Thomas.

On their way back from Renc the car overheated because
of a broken fan belt. They had an extra fain belt with +them
s they got geoing again. Then something else went WO . I
didn't get the stery clear, but it seems that Ralph got word
to Carl and Dick. They finally got the women home.

They were supposed to go home to Fessil  Sunday. Stan
was angry because his wife didn't come home on time. Flor—
ence called scmeone on cur phone collect. She seemed to  be
trying to get the person on the octher end to talk to  Stan
and calm him down.

They planned to leave at 4 a.m. Monday

Yesterday, Monday, Carl came up and picked twe buckets
of cherries in three hours. It was almost noon when he left
te stem the chervies at home. He puts them in the freezer
without taking cut the pits.

I had picked a second bucket of cherries Sunday
evening. 1 didn't get it guite Tull, because I heard a
porcupine above the garden te the east of the plum trees. I
went up and used the Tield glasses to search the area be-
tween the reoad and the fence. I saw the creature in the tall
grass. Without the glasses I weuld never have ssen him. I
rushed in, brought cut the rifle, and got him in the scope's

sight. Daylight was fading, and I ceould hardly see the cross
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hairs. His head was cut of sight. I shot him three times in
the body. Then seeing that he had slowed down, I went the
long way to get down the steep bank to get near him. Now I
was close encugh to see how small he was. At the short
distance I could just peint the murrle to shoot him in  tbhe

head.
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Around B:13 there was a thunderstorm with strong winds.
It brought .02 inches of rain. The plastic in one window
tore out. The plastic deesn't last long when there is  no
glass tc pretect it. The lightning would knock cut the Ry
for seconds at a time. I was surprised that there wasn't a
iong blackout.
15th

It was calm and nearly clear early this morning. Cirvus
clouds began moving rapidly in from the seuth. Then cuwnulus
clouds and thunder caps began showing up. By nine it  was
avercast, and heavy surface winds from the west came in.

The barcmeter went down from 30.66 on Saturday bto 30.1%
this merning. The temperatuwe last night was 58, and at
eight oYclock it was 70. By nine-thirty it was down to 42,
and rain seemed imminent.

I +%ried the phone. There was a dial tone. I ceouldn't
helieve that the repair man had been cut here so early and
had +the phone working. Dova didn't answer her phone. I
called Hair's. Lavina answered on the first ring. She said,
"Maybe the trouble was over by Crane.”

Carl is driving & pickup over toc the Rearing Springs
Ranch. They are driving cattle from the Kueny Ranch over
there, and needed scmeone to drive the truck cver to  hring

the men back.
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The thunderstorm came through here arcund ten—fifteen,
and there was a downpour with high winds. Thereafter the sun
came out for a while, but the winds continued. I uncoup lad
the pipeline thus deactivating the sprinkler in the garden.

I found a vrell of vinyl plastic in the back recm. How
Mike missed it is a mystery, unless it was some he was
saving for ancther purpose.

When the wind slacks off, I will put a piece in  the
place of the breken glass. Then renew cld plastic in cother
parts of the window.

At ten—thirty the barometer was down to 30.00. The
temperature had dropped toc 57. & second thunderstorm arrived
bringing more wind and vain. The first storm breought .37
inches.

I drove the truck down for the mail afier 2 E-M.. M

o

z

g,

reading glasses arvived and a Father's Day card for Carl. i
took it and some strawbhervries over to him.

Back wup here I pulled all the cld staples cut of the
window frame sc that the new plastic would lay flat on the
wood  better. I cut the plastic te size and stapled 1t  intoc
place. I nailed a slat across the center to keep the plastic
from slapping back and feorth the full distance hetwesn top
and bottom. It is the slapping hack and forth that gradually

bBreaks it at the staples.

.....
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It is now 10:10 p.m. and has been raining steadily
since & p.m. not vreally hard but i¥ it keeps up  like this
all night it should amcunt te a considerable by morning.

The barometer is going up again, and is now 230.82. 1
thought 1t would continue to go down after it reached 2000
at 10:30 a.m.
16th

The rain last nicht came to .12 inches. This brought
the total for twenty—four hours to .65 which was the most
reported  on the weather net. The bavometer was 30.31 at &
&.m., and now at 2:30 it is 30.28 and falling.

The phone didn't work this morning, and the RpoOWer was
off. Carl came up arcund ten—thirty while the power was off.
He said that 1t was on at his place when he left. He has all
the circuits working now except cne. Before he left here I
said, "I'll be down as scon as the power comes on here.®

It came on scon afier he left. I wore my new reading
glasses, and carried the Yoli-0Ohm Meter cut to the pickup.
There was an indication that it might rain.

At Carl's I checked the civcuit breakers inside the
trailer heouse. The leower—left-hand—corner one was off and it
wouldn't reset. Carl tuwned of f the power at the post, and I
removed the offending circuit breaker.

When 1t was out it would re-set. Then I remembered that
when I worked on these breakers before, this one could be

re-set only when 1% was out of the box.
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I set the breaker and put 1% back in. Carl turned the
power  back on at the pole. We checked toc see if the lights
in the kitchen worked. Then I headed for home.

In the afterncon I went cut to the point to close the
windoews of the twe vehicles. 6 small-green Ford was parked
near  the Aerostar. I guessed hikers had parked it there
while they hiked up the mountain.

This evening I walked down the hill. The little car was
gone. There were fTootprints ceming up the hill, s I won—
dered which way they went for their hike. There was .06
inches of rain during the day.

I +#ried the phone arcund 6:15, and there was a dial
tone. I called Dora. SBhe answersd on the fourth ring. She
=ai1d that she had tried to call me, but the line was busy.

She said that Alice Clark i= in the Bend hospital for a
gall bladder operaticon. Charlotte will be there during the
cperation.

Mr. Clark went to the Burns hospital last month, and
they sent him to the Bend hospital where the doctors Tound
his trouble, and they were able to help him. He feels better
than he has for a leng time.

I feel very sad concerning Mike. They say that when you
die you cant take anything with vou. Mike cant take anything
with him now and he's not even dead.

He has more tecls, more cleothes, and more money than he

has eveyr had.
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17th

The low last night was 45, and at seven o'clock this
moyning it was 54. The barcometer was 30.34. There were a few
scattered clouds and it was calm.

£ little House Wren made a let of noise arocund  and
under the eves of my bedroom. His wings seemed o bheat as
fast as a Humming Birds. It was amazing how locud his high

pitched song came into the bedroom.
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this way, and suddenly they may stop vight in the beam of
the light. The light blinds them from seeing vou, then vou
can get in a geood shot.

I stayed in there guite a while listening to some odd
noises. Finally I decided that a bird must be making them,
because no typical rat scound came oen. It was twelve by the
time I got to bed.

I got up arcund seven this morning, and afier breakfast
buried the rat. That makes six, all tracked down by getting
them confused in the beam of the flashlight.

I took my time getting ready to go to town. Checked
intc the weather net, washed the dishes, and changed the
sprinkler in the garden.

When I was about to start out, ftwo men and a woman came
to the door. They said that they were here two years ago . I
told them to come on in. One of them laid two cut and pol-
ished geocdes on the table. He said, "We wanted to bring WO
something this time. This vock®, indicating the best locking
one of the twe, "is from the Prineville area. The cther came
from up hear on the side Rill.®

The other man said, “"We didn't know if you had a garden
this vyear, but we were sure you had fruit. We brought You
some vegetables." He handed me a brown paper bag. It held a
head of red cabbage and some elephant garlic.

They talked a while, and loccked at scme of the vocks in

here and at some cutsides.
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After they left I put the sack intc the cold room, then
headed down the hill. I had the prescription for the glass-—
s, and a pair of frames with me. I made sure I had my
checkbook alse.

Carl had driven at a good fast rate on  our trip to
Ontaric. Now it was difficult for me to ge as slow as I used
to. I was deing fifty on the county read part of the time,
and sixty-five on the paved road. In spite of the late start
I was at Thompson's office at twelve o'clock. I went inside.
The window was clesed. I tapped on the panel that closed the
window. There was no answer. I went back putside to see  if
there was a notice on the door about office hours. There
was. They were closed between twelve and one.

I drove ocver to the Safeway store and did some shop—
ping. I bought six jugs of distilled water %$5.34, 2 pack of
three Beounty towels $3.19, a jar of Adams FPeanut Butter
%2.69, four cans of milk #2.36, a package of Olmost Home
Checeolate Chip Cookies $1.53%, a can of red salmon $3.17,
peaches at &7 cents a pound 81 cents, a bottle of vitamin O
$3.19, and a bottle of vitamin & &2.99.

It was het cutside. I drove te a shady spot where I ate
some cockies and drank scme water. I killed encugh time to
bring it to 12:55. When I got to the office deor an elderly
woman  vather short and lean was standing there. She wore
drab clothes and some kind of hat with a medium sized brim.

I said, "Hello. It's a warm day. Is the door locked?®
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She said, "It is warm. The door is lecked.®

I was doubtful that it was locked, so I went up  and
pushed it open. She was surprised, and said, "I guesss I
didn't push hard encugh.®

He went inside and sat down in chaivres that were handy.
The service window was still clesed. She wasn't WEeaTing
glasses. I asked, "Did vou come to get glasses fitted?®

She fumbled in her pocketbocok, and brought cut a oair
of glasses saving, "I came to get these fTixed. The screw o
one bow 1= loose. I thought 1t would fall cut if I tried to
wear the glasses."”

I asked her if she walked over. She told me about being
given a ride through a special pregram that gives rides %o
senior citizens. I gathered that the Senicor Center handles
the program. Bhe said that she is unable to walk Ffast be—
cause of a tendency to fall, which she did one time and
broke her ankle.

The window opened. I nodded to the woman toc go  up
first. ©She showed the clerk her glasses and explained the
trouble. The clerk took the glasses and was gone a short
time. She said, "Here you are. They're as good as new."

She put them on and locked pleased. She asked how  much
she cwed. The clerk said, “"There's nc charge.”

The weman thanked her and said, "1 hope I won't have to

bother yvou again in a long time.®
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I handed the prescripticon to the woman behind the
window, and showed her the frames to put the lenses into.
She said, "The doctor is not back frem lunch yet. It will be
about  ferty minutes. Do yvou want to wait or  de vou  have
somewhere to go?!

I said, "I have an errand %o do, and will be back." I
drove to the Chevron station for a tank of gas, then te the
bank and cashed a check for $100. Then drove to a shady spot
te eat a few more cookies.

I was back at the doctor's office at 1:45. The givl
wanted to know my Medicare number. I tald her that I didn't
have the B part of Medicare. She asked, "Medicare didn't pay
anything on the cataract cperation? I tcld her . and that
I paid for 1t myself. She thought it was toe bad. I told her
that I had expected the VA. Hocspital teo take care of any-—
thing like the operation, but that they have cut back on
sErvices.

Dr. Thompson had me come back inte his office where he
measured where to put the bifeocal. He seemed perplexed that
there were no bifocals in the cld frame. He said that they
would be ready in about a week.

The girl made cut the bill $95.75. While I was waiting
fer the bill a girl sitting at the cther end of the TOom,
with her back toward us, turned toward the frant and said
semething. I thought she was talking to someone else and not
to me. She repeated the guestion. I asked, "Wers yvou speak-—

ing to me?"
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She said, "Yes. How are you?h

I said, "I'm fine. Are you Dr. Thompscon's dauvghter?”
She said, "Me. I'm his daughter—in—law.”

I said, "The last time I was here his daughter was

behind the counter.®

P~y

wrote ocut a check for %935.75, wondering iT it was a
good idea to pay in advance.

I had no more errvands to do, so drove right on cut  of
town. The temperature was in the nineties. I was glad of the
air conditioning. I drove 60 and &5 on the paved voad,  and
43 te 30 on the gravel road. I was at the mail hox Just in
time to take the mail ocut of the sack as the mail +truck
arrived firom the scuth. Handing the girl the empty sack I
said, "Hope you aren’'t too warm. It sure is a hot day.” 1
didn't catch what her answer was. I knew she didn't have air
conditioning.

Up here after I put the groceries away, and had some—
thing to eat, I decided teo take scme things down toe Carl's
place. I thought I would use the pickup to give it a work—
ocut. The engine started all right. At the turncff to  the
county recad I stopped te shift in o two-wheel drive. I
turned off the motor. When I got in and twned on  the key
the sclencid would net kick in. There wasn't encugh juice to
actuate the sclencid.

I walked back up the hill, and drove the Aesrcstar down,

transferred the milk, Oma’'s bank statement, and the ocwners
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manual for the shredder from the pickup toc the van. Then
drove down to Carl's. The gate was closed. By now it was
dark. I left the things on a table on the povrch. They  would
be home later I hoped.

27th

This wmorning after the chores were donege I called up
Carl Hailr and told him about the pickup. He said he would
come  up  with his pickup and jump the batteriss. Then, on
secoend  thought, he said, "It's guite a jeb getting to the
battery in this pickup. Can you use the battery in vour
van®™ I  told him I could, that the battery was right in
front and in the clear.

I drove the van down, and pavked rnext to the pickup. I
get  ocut the handbook to read the instructiens on using  the
jumpers on  the battery. By the time Hair arrived 1 was
digging the jumpers cut from under the seat of the pickup.
Mike Davis dreve up. He said, "Mavbe vou sheouldn't use
Jumpers from your van's battery. It might knock cut some of
the electronic controls.”

I tcld him about the instructions in the boek. I start-
ed the van moteor, and we connected the jumpers. Then I  got
into the pickup and started i1ts motor. It all worked fine. I
could have done 1%t by myself.

fAnyway, Carl drove my pickup up the hill. I drove the
vari. Mike drove his pickup up to bring Carl back down.

28th



August, 1987 17

This morning I changed the sprinklers, checked into the
net, and talked with Ellis. He will bhe driving up  bo
Bharff's cabin in John's car. John and Florence are attend-—
ing a meeting of a club. I've forgotten the name.
dlst

I was over here at &£:35 this morning. Low  last  night
&4, at B a.m. 76, high today 25. There was no wind and it
was clear most of the day. There were a few clouds +his
evening. For a while it locked as though we would have a
thunderstorm.

I checked the sprinkler. It wasn't turning. I discon—
nected the pipeline at the valve in the draw, then went up
and cleaned the drain pipe in the pond, and came down  and
clesed the valve in the draw.

I had a breakfast of corn—flakes with erange juice, and
half a hotcake with canned milk. I shaved and checked inteo
the net. I heard Ellis check in, but didn't make contact
with him. I put the timoptic drops in each eye.

Then went up and connected the pipeline in  the draw,
and turned the valve on full. I locked to see how the =pyrin-
kler was rvunning. It wasn't turning. Thinking there might be
dirt in the head, I pulled the line off the sprinkler pipe
to  let the water drain down from the head. This sheuld let
cut any dirt in the head. I went te the manifold, and cpened

the wvalve wide cpen for a short time. I could hear lots of
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aiv coming through the line. I closed the valve almost
fully, then went to the sprinkler and hooked the line to the
sprinkler pipe. Went back te the manifold and cpened the
valve. I watched the sprinkler feor a while. It didn’'t turn.

I figured that air lecks in the line wasn't letting the
full pressure reach the sprinkler. I went up te the dugout,
and had gecod intenticons of writing, bubt didn't feel good. I
read again about the adverse reactions of Neptazane in  the
medical book. The term malaise seems to cover my feeling.
Besides being uncomfortable I had no push to  do anything.,
not even write.

I lay down and tried to sleep, and did doze off a bit.
I got up and went up the road to where I could ses the
sprinkler. It was turning fine. Then I tocock a bag of paper
cut to the burning barrel.

at eleven 1 turned on the TV and while I listened 1 ate
a bowl of ice cream with unsweetened apple sauce. 8t twelve
watched the scap opera Days of Our Lives. It has a host of
plets all geoing at the same time, and all love stories.
There are socme action seguences with mysterious evil deeds
afoot.

I +tried slesping again, and seeing that I couldn't, I
composed prose  in my head using mores code. This kept me
oocuplied until mail time.

There was no maill for Carl or Oma. For me there was a

letter from Fhil Grenon, and ene from Dr. Thornfeldt with a
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Bill for services. The first biopsy came to $523, the last
cne %212, and other services $197.50.

I decided that I would have my appointment of the
eighth of September canceled, telling them I would be back
next July when I would have part B of Medicare.

I'm not taking the Neptarzane tablet tonight. I used the
Timoptic and the Pred Forte. The Pred Forte is used only  in
the right eve. The doctor didn't tell me toc shake befare
using. Just a while age I read in fine grint a long list of
chemical contents, and underneath it Says, “Shake before
using.®

Toenight I was through bathing by nine—fifteen. I
watched an episcde of Taxi. I ran some clothes through the
washing machine, and had them ready to hang on the line in

the morning.
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High 44, low 26, at & p.m. 38. The sun shown mast of
the day. The wind blew from the west hard enough to make it
seem cold.

I seem toc keep busy most of the time, but I don't get
much done. I cut some wood, buried the porcupine, and locked
through the boxes of books that Mike had stored in the back
reem. I found the necklace with the stone that has a picture
of the butte at the mouth of Indian Creek. I moved the boxres
of books toc a2 new place so that I could get at some insulat-
ing material that was behind them. In the afterncon a man
from Lakeview drove up. His name was Btanley Wonderley. It
sounds like a name ocut of a story.

He saild that he knew Byraon, W7MLT, in Lakeview. Byron
checks into the weather net and the OEM. He said that there
was one ham in Lakeview who has been on the air continuously
longer than any other ham in the U.5.A., and he is only 74
years old.

Stanley brought in his TV camera. He toock soame pictures
cf me sitting in front of the transmitter. We talked while
1t recorded ocuwr conversation. Tha battery in the thing was
running low, so he shut the camera off. He had encugh, and I
was rveady to guit too.

He and his son were camped on the Little @lvored Creek.
He hunted chukars for a while this moyrning, but one of his
knees went lame, sc he gave that up. Hhen he was leaving,

here. he said he would go across the flat and hunt gquail.
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At 3:30 I went for a walk down the read. I heard shots
te the right on the bulldezer road. I thought I might meet
the hunter on my way back up. That's what happened. He came
down  the road with a three-wheeler with its lights on. He
was wearing a cameuflage suit, and had a cloth over the
lower part of his face to protect it frem the cold air. He
waved as he went by.

After Alice closed the Beaver State Net last night, she
made contact with me. She said that they were moving Mike to
a nursing home in Bend this week. I told her that I  hadn’'t
heard abcut it. She said that Carclee tried to get me on the
phone Friday, and Saturday, but couldn't raise me. I said,
"I must have been outdeors when she called.®

This was the first time she had heard about Mike heing
in the hospital. She wondered if I would be caming in  this
week, maybe Tfor Thanksgiving. I said, "I'11 call Carclee
temorraw  and see what Mike will ke doing. I'm wondering if
they will let him go out for dinner. Eating cut might upset
the centrol of his blood sugar.®

She s=said, "Carclee told me that they can give him
insulin shots as long as they don't tell him they are insu—
1in shots.”

Z3rd
High 43, laow 33, at & p.m. 36. It was a nice day with

sunshine and little wind.
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Before I went to bed I heard, via the micrephone on the
roof, the patter of raindrops. I was sure a rainstorm was
setting in for the night. When I cpened the door toc ge to my
bedroom I was surprised to see the sidewallk nearly dry. khen
I came over here this meorning there was no sign that there
had been any rain at all. The rain gage showed only a trace.

I had a good breakfast for a change. Then sat at the
keyboard writing yvesterday's account. I was interrupted by
twe young men coming to the door. They do contract work for
the Forrest Service and live in Bend. Their names are Art
Bhay and Larry Lynch. They had heard about Mike being in the
hospital. I teld them that Mike would be +transferred from
the hospital in Salem te a nursing home in Bend.

One of them said that his wife worked in a nurseing home
in Bend. I believe he said, "The Bachelor Butie Mursing
Home .

They stayed gquite a while asking questions. I went
cutside te show them the juniper trees and the pine tree we
had set ocut, hoping that when ocutside they would leave socon—
27 . I guess they would have stayed arcund for hours if I
hadn’'t said, "Well, I've got to get going. I've a lot  to
de." I headed for the door.

On leaving they said that they would stap at the Bangle
Tree and say helle toe Carclee.

It was eleven—thirty. I had intended to call Carcles

sconer. At least it wasn't her lunch time yvet. She answered
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the phone promptly. I recognized her voice this time. She
said that after Mike got settled in for a few days, she and
Bruce would take him out te dinner. I asked, "HWouldn't
eating out upset their contrel of his blocd sugar 7y

She =aid, "Well, I would have to watch what he ate.
They test his blocod twice a day., and give him insulin shots
as needed. His diabetes has turned intoc the kind that needs
insulin shots.®

I said, "Since he rebels when he thinks he is getting
insulin shots, it locks as though he still isn't thinking
straight.”

She said, "Ne. He still has delusions. Hell, I have got
to get back to work.®

I said, "I guess it wouldn't do any good for me to
visit him now." She agreed.

I didn't have a chance to talk to her about the Chevro-—
let and the drag saw. I will call Betsy later at her home.

For 1lunch I had a piece of pie with ice cream, coffze
and an apple.

I finished yesterday's account and did a spell check on
1t, and printed it out.

After lunch I proceeded toc get a piece of plywood out
of  the tin building tc cover, on the inside, the big—old
broken window of my bedroom. There were several Tull—-sized
sheets of plywocod leaning against the wall. At first sight

it appeared easy to get one cut. In front of them = consid-
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erable number of cdd-sized pieces of plywood and boards held
them wedged tight. I had to move all those things first.
Then it was a struggle to maneuver the sheet cut the door.

I carried it cver to the bedroom, and spent a lat of
time and work getting it inteo place. Things were in the WAY 4
including the bed. I had to tear a shelf off the back wall.
Before I get it inta place it was time %o go atter the mail.

At the mailbeox I decided against going over to Carl's
place. I would have toc little time left to finish the job
on the plywood before darvik.

Not counting the junk mail, there was only the News and
World Report, a letter from Geocrge, and one from Hazel and
Gerald. In Beorge's letter there were the doctor bills I had
sent to him to lock at, and a clipping fram a newspaper
telling about a sinkhole that swallowed a home. Hazel wrotke
that Beb, Fred's son, died on Octchesr 20 at 3 a.m.

I finished putting in the plywond, but later I saw that
I had overlocked a few things. Along the bottom several bats
wouldn't allow the plywood to lie flush with the wall. This
made an cpening for the wind to blow through. I had made the
sheet full length, thinking it wouldn't matter if the extra
length went cut passed the window. Now I zaw that 1 would
have to take 1t off and vectify the mistake. I will deo it
tomorrow, the weather permitting.

It was teo late for my hike down the road when I geot
through. Ellis didn't check intco any of the nets tonight. He

probably went over to Scic.
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On one of the nets I heard someone ask for news about
the earthgquake in scuthern California. The news on TV would—
n't be on until nine c'cleck. I twned on the radic and
listened toc KNX. It gave a good account of the guake. It was
6.2 on the Richter scale. There wasn't much damage, and no
one was hurt.

1 left the radic on, and at nine co'clock a classic—
radic play started. It was a detective story, “The Saint®. I
listened for a while, and was reminded how good the old
plays were on radio.
2%th

Low 17, high 36, at &6 p.m. 33. The sky was clear. The
wind calm. With this combination it was a pleasant day
outside.

I was up at 7:10. I came over te the dugout, built a
firve in the stove, and turned on the electric heaters. Then
togk a hike down passed the power—line crossing. With  no
wind my hands and ears didn't get cold exposed to the air.

Lavina called this morning. She said that the reascn 1
couldn't get Dora on the phone was that she was in Califor-—
nia. She will be back this coming week. Roy was down and had
Thanksgiving dinmner with them. He is gocing back home today
because he has to work tomorrow. At the county property  fTor
the rocad crew, they have the new-mocbile home set up on  the
foundation, and will have the place ready by the end of next

week. Pete will move from the cld-mchile home into it.
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The workers that will be preparing the roadbed for
the blacktop will move into the cld unit. The bousing prob-
lem has been holding up the construction work an the road.
Now, mayhe, they will start this winter after all.

I got those stickers for the license plates last Friday
at a cost of eleven dellars. Now I cant find the registra-
tion paper that I had with me that day. I decided to put on
the new stickers right away before lesing them. It was
belocw freezing, although the sun was shining. I used the
hair dryver toc warm the plates.

While 1 was working on the front plate my back was
turned toward the point. I heard a wvehicle approaching
behind me, but didn't turn arcund immediately. When it came
te a stop, I raised my head and turned. It was a bBig GHMC
truck. The one perscon in it cpened the cab door and came
bouncing to the ground. I called cut, "Hi, there."

He came up close and asked, "Are you having trouble
getting vouwr engine started?”

1 s=said, Thic ., I'm putting stickers on the license
plates. The plates have toc be warm or they wen't stick.®

"Oh." he said, "I thought you were trying to warm the
engine." He was all smiles in greeting me, and shook my
hand. "I'm on my way from Salt Lake City to Pertland.
Thought I would stop to see vou. I heard that Carl Thomas

had a stroke.”
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I began toc recognize him. Far vears he had been flying
to Beise, and his route was over our place. He would lock
down and see ouwr place and think about vizsiting us if he had
a chance. He landed down near Carl Hair's place one day, and
Carl brought him up here. Since then he has come up  several
times. His name is Doug Hamblin, and he lives in Corvallis.

I teld him that Carl was doing fine, and weuld be ocut
here before Christmas. He said, "They told me down at the
store, but Julie didn't know the details. I was soyyy to
hear he had a stroke.®

I said, "I was sorry too, but I guess he will be all
right. Mike is in a nursing home in Bend now.®

He said, "The last I heard he was in Salem. Why did
they move hia?®

I tcld him that Mike was so much better they would
allew him to stay in a nursing home. "He had a choice hbe—
tween one in Burns and cne in Bend. He chose Bend. That
makes it possible for Carclee to visit him more often.® I
said.

He asked, "How about that old '446 Chevrolet? Mike gave
it to his granddaughter. I sure would like to have it."

I s=said, "Betsy is going to have a baby in March. so
maybe she won't have time teo bother with the old car. I'11
call and ask her.”

He said, "1 asked Mike if he wanted to sell the old

drag saw. He gave me the ridiculcus price of $15,000."
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I said, "That's what he wanted for the compressor tooc.
I'1l ask Carclee about the drag saw.”

He says, "Say, do you ever wear blue jeans. I must have
a hundred of them. What size toc you wear?®

1 said, "Sure. I wear blue jeans. These pants I have on
now I bought at a thrift store. They aren't second hand.
They're factory rejects.”

The next time he comes over he will bring some blue
jeans. He has put in over 80,000 miles on his truck since
March. He makes a couple of trips a month to Florida hauling
jiet engines to be repaired in the sheps in Orlande.

George didn’'t call vesterday, and hadn't called by cne-
thirty today. I tried phoning him, but there was nc answer.
I tried again at four o'cleock. Lois answered, and Geocrge gotb
on  the extension. They had made sc many phone calls during
Thanksgiving they had forgotten to make any calls on  the
weekend. They were out to see Harry. He is just the same.
The weather has been cold, down to forty at night and only
up toe sixty in the daytime. There's been loits of wind.

I teld him about Doug Hamblin driving up teday, and
about his making all those trips to Orlando. I said, “"He
told me that if I ever drive to Florida this time of year I
should go  the scuthern route so as teo miss all the bad
storms. "

George said, "The best way to make trips back here is

te flvy. It would cost less and save time." I agreed with
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him, but if I did fly down I would be away ftrom the place
too long.

Ellis checked inte the Beaver State Net tonight. We
moved up  frequency and had a short chat. Band conditions
were not favorable. He was fading cut fast. There had been
sc much activity with the grandchildren and Julie wvisiting
her parents and aunts he hadn't been on the aiv much. I told
him about Bob Ellis becoming a silent key last Tuesday. He
hadn't heard because he had been off the air so much of ithe
time.

I called Betsy tonight. Fred answered the phone. I
said, "Well, Fred I hear you're going to be a father.®

He said, “Betsy lost the baby a couple months ago. I
thought vyou might have heard.®

I asked him if Betsy still wanted Fred's cld Chevirolet
car. He said that Betsy had gone toc a movie and would be
home at nine. He would have her call back. She called at
nine~thirty. I +told her abcocut the two wanting toe buy the
car, and asked her how much she wanted for it. She =aid that
since they weren't set up to restore the car she was think-
ing of selling it. We shouldn't get less than five-hundred
dollars for it.

I asked her about Mike. She said that he is doing good.
Bruce and Carclee brought him down to her place for Thanks—
giving dinner. Billy and Betty Couler were there. Mike shook

hands with Billy, saying, "It's been a long time. "
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He was guiet and didn't eat much dinmer. He lay down
for a while, saying that he was tired. When they broucht him
back to the nursing home, he thought they were going inte a
motel. They got him to his room, then told him they were go-—
ing teo ancther room. From her account I feesl that he isn't
any better except that his blocd sugay is under control.
30%h

High 40, low 25, at & p.m. 38. The wind was 2 miles an
hour from the west. I the sky was overcast, and there was no
precipitation.

I toock & hike down the road this morning. The wind was
stronger passed the peint than it was at the dugeout. It held
me back coming up the hill.

After breakfast I brought ocut the short piece of white
insulating material to see if it could be used on the inside
of the bedroom door. It was tec short. I left it standing on
edge by the big chair. The measwremnent on the door shows
that 1t needs tc be 78 inches long, and 33 inches wide. I
locked for some feoam sheeting to put under it to act as a
shield for the cracks arocund the door, but couldn't Find
anything suitable.

I baked {twe loaves of bread, using one package of
double-strength~dry vyeast. After washing the dishes, I
cleaned the new feood slicer. When I first got 1t home and
read the instructions I felt disappecinted, because I could-—
n't see any good way to hold the vegetables in place while

slicing. I wanted it mainly for slicing bread.

11



Movember, 1987 iz

The food tray wasn't wide encugh for a loaf of bread,
and still use the food grip. You would have to cut the loaf
inte guarters to use the grip. Alsce twe parts that were
supposed  to come with it were missing., a "PFrotect—-o—Stap®
that would come down below the counter edge to keep the
slicer from moving backward, and a "Vac-c-Matic” table lock
which would hold the slicer down with a vacuum grip.

For lack of these two items I used a 2:8 two feet long
te set the thing en. Then nailed two strips of weod across
the 2x8 making a slot that the twe front lege would Fit
inte snugly. With the rear end of the 2x8 against the back
wall the sleot held the slicer from moving back. & few drops
of salad o©il an the food-tray track made the tray slide
fresely.

Atter the bread had cocled I tried the slicer. I didn't
use the food grip, but held the loaf by hand on  the food
table. I could see no danger of my Tingers getting sliced.
Later when the lecaf got short I used the food grip and cut
slices to the very end of the loaf.

Friday I bought a piece of boneless—reound steak intend—
ing to grind 1t into hamburger meat. Te get the meat into
the grinder it needs to be sliced inte strips about one and
a guarter inches thick.

After slicing the meat I tore down the slicer and
washed the parts. It wasn't as bad job as I had anticipated.

I drove down for the mail at 2:30. Somecons had a big

square tent set up at the gate. There was no vehicle arcund.
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The only mail was the News and World Report. I drove over to
Carl's place and took a mouse out of one of his traps, then
reset it.

I called Carclee this movNing around eleven o'clack. We
talked about the ‘46 Chevrolet and the drag saw. I told her
about  the twoe different guys wanting them. She thought we
could let the drag saw go for a small sum. Like Betsy she
thought the Chevrolet should bring at least 4500,

She didn’'t say much about Mike, only that he was doing
pretty good. She had heard about Ech from Hazel.

I hiked all the way tc the lower draw tonight. I felt
that I needed a leng walk. & man on a thiree wheeler came
down the road with his lights on just like the other night.
He wore a ski mask and had on plain dark clothes. It was
prebably a different man than before. It was nearly dark
when I got back as it is so often now.

Ellis didn't check inte any of the nets tonight.
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2nd

This morning it started raining around three-thirty. At the
same time the power went off. I thought of the crew working on
the line in the wind and rain. The power came on around seven—
thirty. The air was calm by that time, and there was only a
sprinkling of rain.

At eight o’clock I checked the rain gauge. It showed only
four-hundredths of an inch of precipitation.

Since it was wet outside I decided to make a couple of
pumpkin pies. I started at ten o’clock. I used seven ounces of
lard for tow nine inch crusts. I got almost too much water in the
dough, but the crusts came out fine.

At eleven the rain turned into a pretty good downpour. I was
reluctant to drive down for the mail wile it was raining so hard.
I waited until three-thirty. By then the pies were cool enough to
cut, so I ate one small piece. It whet my appetite for more. No
wonder 1 wanted to make a pumpkin pie.

When I went out to the pickup, it was raining very lightly.
I brought my big overcoat out and put it in the cab to have in
case I had to change wheels in the rain. The rain wet the wind-
shield, but I didn‘t have to use the wipers. Going down the hill,
I could see a skim of water all over the desert. At the county

road the rain had stopped.
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The mail consisted of junk, and my VA check.

I had another piece of pie when I got back. I turned on the
TV set at four-thirty, and listened to the news briefly on chan-
nel eleven. Channel thirteen was off the air. The news stories
were so depressing I had to turn off the set. I could do without
the news, but I like to hear the weather forecasts.

At five-thirty it was almost completely dark. The moon made
a little 1light through the clouds. There was only twenty-six
hundredths of an inch of precipitation in the rain gauge, much
less than I had expected. While outside I put the sheet of ply-
wood back up in front of the door to the tin building. The wind
had blown it down.

I couldn‘t keep away from the pie, and ended up eating a
whole half. I put one pie into the freezer, and the half pie into
the refrigerator. I decided to call the pie I had eaten my even-
ing meal.

I made contact with Ellis on the Beaver State Net. We didn’t
talk long. He has everything ready to leave for Arizona in the
morning. I told him about the fifty-four inches of rain we had
during the last two days. They had less in Hines, and it was
cooler there.
3rd

It was a nice sun—shiny day. There was considerable wind but

no rain.
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After breakfast I started looking for material that would
make a seal on the bedroom door under the insulating board. I
found a roll of carpet padding that Duke Kurtz had left us. After
I unrolled it I could see that it would be wide enough to cover
the door and go out past the hinges about eight inches. That
would cover the crack at the hinges. However, it lacked eighteen
inches of reaching from the bottom to the to of the door.

I planned to use it anyway, because there was another piece
from which I could obtain the eighteen inches.

I was interrupted by a phone call from Lani Davis. Their
refrigerator was out of order. She thought it probably needed
gas. If I came down in the afternoon Ed would be there to give me
a hand.

After lunch I went down to see what I could do. I took all
my tools into the house the first thing, and was ready to get set
up to put freon gas into the system. Ed came in. He said, "I’11
plug it in, and you can see what it’s doing. It goes on and off
for short intervals, and never gets cold."

That’s what it did. It went on for a short time, and turned
off for a short time. No bubbles appeared in the sight glass. The
lack of bubbles indicated that there was plenty of freon gas in

the system.
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We were up a stump. I thought there might be something wrong
with the expansion valve, and I tapped on it hoping to free it if
it was stuck. Ed turned the knob of the off-and-on control down a
long way. The compressor continued running instead of stopping in
a short time. We decided to let it run with the control on that
setting and let it cycle on its own or until the refrigerator got
cold.

I packed up my tools and came home.

It was too late to do any work on the door. I cut some wood
and took a hike down the hill a short distance passed the power-—
line crossing, and got back here before dark.

During these warm days I have burned only a small amount of
wood. The two electric heaters keep the place warm for the most
part. I would have one hot fire in the cook stove in the morning,
and another one in it at night. Part of the day the electric
heaters were turned off.
4th

Today the air was calm, the sky cloudy, and we had no pre-
cipitation.

In the morning I worked on the bedroom door putting on the
long piece of carpet padding. It looked like it would do a good

job of keeping the wind out.
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Around eleven o’clock Ed called saying that the refrigerator
wasn’t getting cold, and there were a lot of bubbles in the sight
glass. I told him I would be down after one o’clock.

I loaded in my tools and was down there just after one. I
decided to go inside without my tools the first thing to see what
was going on. We plugged in the power, and let the refrigerator
run for a while. The bubbles showed up in the sight glass and
kept coming. The expansion valve didn’t get cold.

I finally said, "The pressure comes up and goes down, but we
don‘t know how much. The only thing to do is disconnect the line
to the control, hook up the hose to the pressure gauge, and
bypass the control switch. That way we’ll know for sure whether
or not there is enough refrigerant in the thing.

They had already moved the refrigerator away from the wall.
I brought in my tools, lay down on the floor, and proceeded to
prepare the connections for checking the pressure with the gauge.
When we started the thing up, the pressure went down into the
vacuum zone. That seemed odd, but I soon realized that I hadn’t
opened the valve to let the refrigerant back from the high side.
After I got the valve open the gauge showed only two pounds
pressure.

This was the procedure I should have used yesterday. It was

evident that the R-12 wasn’t reaching the expansion valve in a
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liquid form to give it a chance to expand under pressure. Ed
brought in the R-12 bottle. We set it on a pair of scales to keep
track of how much we put in. I hooked the hose between the bottle
and the gauge manifold, plugged in the compressor, and started
adding the freon.

The pressure began to rise. The bubbles in the sight glass
didn’t stop until the pressure got up to thirty-two pounds. We
had used up about one and a half pounds of freon. Now the pres—
sure began to drop showing that the frost line was down to the
control bulb of the expansion valve, and the valve was cutting
down on the gas to be expanded.

We went through the procedure of reconnecting the control
switch. There is always some loss of gas when you do this. At the
startup bubbles appeared in the sight glass as usual, but they
didn’t stop even after five minutes. The only thing to do was add
more freon.

Ed reminded me that I hadn’t purged the air from the hoses
the first time. I said, "You‘re right. I didn’t. I should have.
It will filter out."™ I was wrong on that score. The filters will
take out water but not air. The water could have an adverse
effect on the oil.

Martin came in with the Alvord mail. He said, "At it again."
We agreed with him. He said he would leave my mail in my pickup.

I thanked him.
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Now we did purge the air from the hoses. It took half a
pound of freon to stop the bubbles. We added an extra quarter
pound in anticipation of the loss that would occur on changing
the line back to the control switch. This time on startup the
bubbles quickly disappeared from the sight glass.

Ed checked the service valve on the high side. He was behind
the refrigerator. I could see what he was doing. He said, "The
cap is on crooked." He started to put a wrench on it, and as soon
as the wrench touched the cap it fell into his hand. I remembered
that I had made sure that the cap was on tight, and not crossed
threaded the last time I worked on it. I was sure I had stopped
the leak then. Now the cap had oil in it, and there was oil on
the outside.

It worried me that he might think I did such a poor job. I
couldn’t believe I had left the cap hanging by one thread.

I gathered up my tools and was ready to leave. Ed asked,
"Can I give you anything for your trouble. I’d like to give you
something."

I said, "No. I'm only too glad to be able to help, if I can.
Anyway you did all the work."™

On my way back I put the empty mail sack into the return
mailbox, feeling disappointed that I didn’t have the weather
report ready to mail. I would have had it ready if I hadn’t gone

down to help Ed. Now it wouldn’t go out until Monday.
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I had time before dark to put an eighteen inch piece of
carpet padding onto the top end of the door. That finished cover-—
ing the door completely. The weather would turn cold soon, then I
would know how much it helped.

I didn‘t take my hike down the hill. I heard Ellis check
into the Oregon Emergency Net tonight. He was down in the noise
so far I couldn’t tell what he was saying. Someone relayed him
into the net control and said that he was in Tonopah .
5th

The sky was clear until late this evening before six o’-
clock, when some clouds came over and we had three-hundredths of
an inch of rain.

I hiked down the road almost to the lower draw before break-
fast, making up for not getting a hike yesterday.

George called early this morning. He talked with Carolee
Friday. She says that Mike sleeps most of the time, and doesn’t
eat much of the food they set out for him, because he thinks it’s
poisoned. He drinks the special food that comes in a can. He
opens the can himself and knows it doesn’t have poison in it.

While we are having, for us, a warm spell, they are having a
cold spell. It was down to forty last night, and got up to only
sixty yesterday. The lettuce crop in California has been ruined

because of too much rain. So the price of lettuce in Florida is
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sky high. The Florida crop is just coming on. They have only one
crop there and that’s in the winter. The Florida growers should
make money this year. He says the Florida lettuce isn’t as good
as that from California. The heads aren‘t as compact, and the
outer leaves tend to fall off. At the lettuce stand there are
leaves all over the place where people have been handling the
heads trying to find the best.

He says the Public Broadcasting Station he watches has lots
of good-wild animal programs. It also has better movies than the
networks. He was excited about the new Quasar that has been
recently discovered, eighty-billion-trillion miles away. He is
amazed at the new technology in the use of telescopes.

I forgot to say yesterday that I got a Christmas card from
Catherine and Jean Hawthorne. She said that John and his girl
friend had spent Christmas with them, and asked where I would be
for Christmas, and also what was Mike’s address.

After George called, I called the Hawthorne’s. Catherine
answered. She was glad to hear me. They had been to Bend and had
seen Carolee and Bruce, and were glad that Mike was in Bend. They
didn’t visit Mike. Jean was reluctant to see Mike the way he is
now. He wanted to remember him the way he used to be. Catherine

said that she would like to see him, anyway.
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Jean came to the phone. We went over the same ground that
Catherine and I had gone over about Mike. Jean asked me about my
neighbor down on the edge of the desert. I told him about Carl‘s
stroke and his recovery, and that he would be out here before
Christmas.

I have never answered Phil Grenon‘s last letter, and I have-
n‘’t heard from him for some time. I tried reaching him on the
phone this morning but there was no answer.

Then I called Dorathy. I wanted to let her know where Mike
was. She was glad to hear me. They had been planning to visit him
in Salem next week. She said that she was glad to hear he was in
Bend where Carolee could visit him more often. She said that she
had been laid up with a bad disk in her back, was in bed for
three weeks, and is now Jjust getting up and around. The weather
has been warm down there, and it’s been raining heavy for a
change, more like normal weather.

Well, today I removed the covering that I had put on the
inside of the little window on the north side of the bedroom. It
was very inadequate and was letting a lot of wind come in. I put
a sheet of padding over it and a piece of plywood that I found
already the right size, over the padding. Still have more work to

do on other spots to plug all the cracks.

10
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The rain shower late this evening didn’t last long. I was
glad it quit, because I was afraid it might be the beginning of a
big storm.

Before it was time for the Beaver State Net, the phone rang.
picked up the receiver and said, "Hello."™ A woman’s voice on the
other end sounded like she was asking for someone, but I couldn’t
understand her. I said, "This is Jim Weston. Who is calling?"

The voice came back, and now sounded frantic. I guessed that
who ever it was was shouting into the phone which cause a distor-
tion. Finally a telephone operator came on. She said, "This is a
radio telephone. May I relay the message to you?"

I said, "Will you please? Thank you."

The operator told me it was Ann Evet. I said, "Oh, Ann Evet.
Where are you Ann?"

Now more distorted words that sounded 1like Bask. Then the
operator relayed the message which was that Ann wanted to know if
I would be home tomorrow. Ann would be over in the afternoon. I
said, "I’11 be here. I’11 be glad to see you."

I couldn’t imagine why she was coming over to see me. I had
no idea if she would be alone or maybe Leon would be with her.
Whatever, it would be good to find out how she was doing. It did
give me an added incentive to clean house. I would do the clean~

ing tomorrow. Meantime I would start this account.

11
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While I was typing I heard, via the microphone on the roof,
what sounded like raindrops on the roof. It didn‘t sound quite
right. I wanted to describe it, "Like the sound of horses hoofs
on loose gravel.¥

I went to the door to see what kind of raindrops they were.
It wasn’t rain at all. It was snow. Now I know the sound of snow
flakes when they land. Of course, they have to be landing on a
microphone to enable you to hear themn.

1 wondered, "Is this the beginning of the dreaded snowstorm
that I was hoping wouldn’t come?" By eleven o‘’clock it had quit
snowing and the moon was shining bright. So to bed.
6th

We had twelve hundredths of an inch of precipitation from
rain and snow. It was quite windy most of the day.

I spent the morning cleaning house, and had it in pretty
good shape by two ofclock. I hung three pairs of pants on the
line to dry in the brisk wind. I got a couple of patties of
ground beef and a pie out of the freezer in case Ann wanted to
stay for dinner.

I intended to cut some wood while I was waiting. When I was
almost to the tin building, I heard a vehicle coming down from
the point. I came back around the corner and saw Ann getting out

of a pickup. She waved, and then Leon get out, and, of course,
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Bell and another dog. They came down to meet me. We shook hands,
and we all said, "How good you look. Glad to see you again.”

I suggested that I fix them something to eat, but they had
just eaten down at Fields and were full up. Ann saw the pie and
remarked that it looked better than the ones she makes. I got
them to eat a sample of the pie. It wasn’t quite thawed out, and
was a little icy to eat. Leon said that it was the same as her
pies. I turned out that Ann had trouble with the edge of the
crust around the pumpkin pie. They would get too brown.

Leon was interested in buying a set of encyclopedias. I told
him why I didn’t like the set I had, and said, "The best book to
buy for information is Noah Webster’s Unabridged Dictionary.

It started hailing. I ran out and brought the pants off the
line in time to keep them from getting too wet.

They wanted to see Mickey Hot Springs on their way home. The
hailstorm was turning into a heavy snowstorm. Ann said, "The next
time we come over I won’t call ahead of time on that radio
phone. "

I said, "Well, come any time. I’m almost always home.®

They hurried out to the pickup, and took off. The snowstorm
got worse after they left. I doubted that they would drive to the
hot springs. The road can get muddy over that way.

I heard Ellis check into the Oregon Emergency Net. He was

south of Hoover Dam. The band was too noisy to make contact.
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7th

There was two-hundredths of an inch of precipitation from
snow showers last night.

The first box trap that I brought up from Carl’s place
caught two mice and the tail of one rat during the three weeks it
has been here. Later I got the rat with the shot revolver. The
second rat trap that I brought up caught two. With the rats and
mice pretty well cleaned out, I took one of the box traps back to
Carl’s place, when I went after the mail today.

Down there no mice were in the small traps. It looks like
there are no more rats and mice there. They will probably come in
from the fields soon.

I got a Seasons Greeting’s card from L. N. Morris in the
mail. It’s from Coos Bay, and signed Louis & Gay. I don‘t remem—
ber them, and there is nothing in the note to give me a clue.
They know that Mike is in the hospital, and want his address so
they can send him a card. My only guess is that they could have
been here with Oma some time.

I cut a good supply of wood, and took a hike down the hill.
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